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1. Performance Overview
1.1 Purpose of overview section
Welcome to the 2018-19 annual report for NHS Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). The
overview section of this report highlights our approach and achievements during the year ended 31
March 2019. It gives a snap shot of who we are, what we do, the challenges we have faced and what
we have done as a result.
This section provides a summary of key information so readers can understand Herts Valleys CCG: our
purpose, the key risks to the achievement of our objectives, and how we have performed during the
year on a number of core activities.
The overview section describes our performance against key targets together with our financial
performance. Further detail on financial performance is given in the accounts and within the corporate
governance report section of the accountability report. Key risks identified in 2018-19 are listed in the
section on risk management arrangements, also within the governance report.
As with any NHS organisation, Herts Valleys CCG faces the common challenge of having to balance the
demand pressures placed upon it, with the restrictions of working within a tightly defined financial
envelope and the national limitation of available physical resources. These challenges naturally bring
risk to the overall delivery of the CCG’s objectives. Over the past couple of years, we have managed
these challenges well and achieved a sustainable financial position and despite these challenges,
simultaneously, we have continued our programme of transformation, which is a key theme of this
year’s report.
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1.2 Statement from the chair and chief executive
Thank you for taking the time to read our annual report which describes the work we have been doing
over the last 12 months to make sure that the NHS in west Hertfordshire stays on course to meet local
health needs now and in the future.
We have made great progress in our work to transform services – particularly our Your Care, Your
Future ambitions to provide patients with care closer to home. New community based services have
been launched for nutrition and dietetics, vasectomy, Ear, Nose and Throat (ENT), gynaecology and
ophthalmology. These services match the priorities set out in the NHS Long Term plan. As well as
benefiting patients, this and other transformation is supporting our work to meet our financial targets
and support the case to redevelop our local hospitals.
Patients and health professionals are at the heart of what we do and we’ve worked hard to involve
various audiences in designing new services. We have invited views on planned changes over the last
year, in particular on progressing plans for developing the acute hospital site across west Hertfordshire.
This year, partnership working made a real difference to services in west Hertfordshire. We received
significant attention for our work in two areas of mental health services, social prescribing, and
respiratory services. In December, we, with local partners, were successful in our bid to become a
trailblazer site for Mental Health Support Teams, working with schools to strengthen support for
children and young people with mental health issues. In July, our pilot IAPT service, focusing on caring
for the emotional wellbeing of people living with diabetes, became regional champion at the
prestigious NHS70 Parliamentary Awards.
Our partnership working has also been recognised nationally. We won the award for ‘System-led
support for carers’ at the Health Service Journal Awards (HSJ), a submission we led on with our
sustainable transformation partnership (STP). Being a finalist in the Chief Executive of the Year
category in the same awards was a further acknowledgement of our progress as an organisation.
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We were also jointly shortlisted in the same awards with Central London Community Healthcare Trust
for support to patients on home oxygen. We have awarded a new integrated adult community service
with the Trust this year, which will go live in October 2019. The new approach is our biggest change in
the provision of services to date and will help us to deliver our Your Care, Your Future aspirations.
This new way of working will create fully joined-up services in line with national expectations set out in
NHS England’s Long Term Plan. It will bring physical and mental health, primary, social and voluntary
care organisations closer together so that patients benefit from co-ordinated care.
We have received good patient ratings for the service our GPs provide in the national GP patient
survey. We have also achieved full access to evening and weekend appointments for our patients. We
are also using this service in innovative ways to support our urgent care system.
Urgent care has been a strong focus for us this year. We have implemented a comprehensive plan to
mitigate against winter pressures including a GP placed at A&E to reduce waiting times for patients and
increasing bed capacity and protecting outpatient care from outside pressures.
As we approach 2019-20, we are looking towards working more closely with the rest of our STP area.
The STP launched an integrated health and care clinical strategy in 2018-19, which is an important precursor to the development of an Integrated Care System for our area.
We are grateful for the support and cooperation from our committed CCG workforce, our partners and
from our member practices and clinical leads who are critical to the work we do. This report is a
testament to everyone’s collective efforts and we hope that you will find it useful and interesting.

Dr Nicolas Small, Chair and Kathryn Magson, Chief Executive
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1.3 The nature and purpose of our organisation
We are the NHS organisation responsible for commissioning (planning, designing, and buying) health
services on behalf of people who live in west Hertfordshire. This is a population of about 627,000.
Our governing body - our board - is mainly made up of GPs and other clinicians with the remainder
comprising very senior CCG managers and lay members. We also welcome involvement from
Hertfordshire County Council and Healthwatch Hertfordshire.
We are a member organisation and our 59 member GP practices are arranged into four localities:
Dacorum, Hertsmere, St Albans and Harpenden, and Watford and Three Rivers.
Each of these localities has a committee that is made up of local GPs. The locality committees provide
our board with advice using their local knowledge and expertise to support us in carrying out our role
successfully.
We share the vision of the Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing strategy (2016 – 2020) that:
“With all partners working together we aim to reduce health inequalities and improve the health and
wellbeing of the people in Hertfordshire.”
During this financial year, the CCG operated from offices at Hemel One, Boundary Way, Hemel
Hempstead. On 31 March, at the end of this financial year, the organisation moved to The Forum,
Marlowes, Hemel Hempstead, which is owned by Dacorum Borough Council. The move is in keeping
with our future direction around our integration agenda with all stakeholders so that we coordinate
our efforts to improve people’s health and wellbeing. By leasing office space from the local authority,
we are also keeping public money within the public sector.
In 2018-19, we had a total budget of around £856 million that we spent on community, hospital,
general practice and mental health services. We jointly commission some of our services – such as
mental health, NHS 111 and the GP out-of-hours service as well as services from the voluntary and
charity sector such as Herts Help, the local peace hospices and community transport. Our
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commissioning partners are Hertfordshire County Council and NHS East and North Hertfordshire
Clinical Commissioning Group.
A full list of contracts with providers is available on request. There have been significant changes to
services contracted by the CCG during 2018-19. We are moving towards community care. These will be
detailed later in the performance section of this report.

1.4 Our business model
The CCG is responsible for the strategic planning, procurement, monitoring and evaluation of the
performance of a prescribed set of services that are delivered by a range of NHS, independent and
third sector health and care providers in order to meet the needs of our local population.
These services provide a range of hospital treatments, rehabilitation services, urgent and emergency
care, community health services, mental health and learning disability services. To ensure we are
meeting our populations’ needs, each year the CCG undertakes a planning process and will continue to
do so within available resources. This planning process is increasingly being undertaken within the
context of the development of wider ‘place based’ plans known as Sustainability and Transformation
Partnerships (STPs).
We work with health and social care partners to transform the delivery of care through the
implementation of ‘Your Care, Your Future’, the health transformation programme for west
Hertfordshire and how it fits with the wider sustainability and transformation partnership (STP)
strategy, “A Healthier Future”.
The STP has been working together intensively to develop an overarching integrated health and care
strategy for Hertfordshire and West Essex, supported by a 10-year financial plan. The plan can be
viewed here.
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During this year, the governing bodies of the three CCGs within the Hertfordshire and West Essex
Strategic Transformation Partnership have discussed streamlining the historic governance structures of
the CCGs. We are now on the journey to creating an integrated care system by 2021. The three CCGs
still remain as separate entities with responsibility for delivering local services and with their own
governing bodies and constitutions.

1.5 Our strategy
Our strategic objectives for 2018-19 were:
1. Effective engagement
2. Quality
3. Transforming delivery
4. Affordable and sustainable care
To achieve these objectives we agreed to:
•

Continually improve engagement with member practices, patients, the public, carers and our staff
to contribute to and influence the work of Herts Valleys CCG.

•

Commission safe, good quality services that meet the needs of the population, reducing health
inequalities and supporting local people to avoid ill health and stay well.

•

Work with health and social care partners to transform the delivery of care through the
implementation of “Your Care, Your Future”, the Strategic Review in west Hertfordshire and its fit
with the wider STP strategy “A Healthier Future”.

•

Ensure that we deliver a financially sustainable and affordable healthcare system in west
Hertfordshire.
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1.6 Financial performance and outlook
1.6.1.1

Financial performance during 2018-19

NHS England sets some duties on CCGs with regard to the management of their finances. A summary is
set out below, and further detail provided on performance.
Requirement

What this means

Has this been met?

1. Expenditure not to

To keep the amount spent on

Yes – a surplus of

exceed the revenue

commissioning services to

£3.444m has been

resource limit in any one

below the amount allocated

declared

year
2. To maintain a minimum
of 1% cumulative surplus

To have built up surpluses in this Yes –CCG’s cumulative
and previous years equal to or

surplus is 1%

more than 1% of our allocation
3. Expenditure not to

To not spend more on buying

Yes – spend has been

exceed the capital

property, plant and equipment

within budget

resource limit in any one

than it has been allocated

year
4. To remain within the
cash limit in any one year
5. To remain within the
running costs target

To keep the cash in the bank

Yes

within acceptable limits
To ensure we discharge our
responsibilities as a CCG
efficiently
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Yes

Our planning also allowed for a further allocation of £6.3m; the CCG’s share of the £1.6bn additional
funding for the NHS, announced in the 2017 autumn budget. Much of this additional funding was
targeted at extra acute activity, and investment into mental health services. It also supported increases
in the cost of prescribed medication and continuing healthcare.
A combination of variations in cost and volume of activity, robust financial management, and national
pricing led to actual costs within some service areas being lower than planned. We made the same
value of savings in 2018-19 as we did in 2017-18. These savings over two years have also helped deliver
our 1% cumulative surplus. As a result, we agreed with NHS England that a surplus of £2.932m at the
end of 2018-19 was a more realistic reflection of our financial performance than the breakeven
position previously agreed, which enabled us to meet the cumulative surplus requirement of 1%, or
£7.926m, as outlined in the second requirement in the financial duties table above. Our actual surplus
declared was £3.444m, better than our required control total and meeting our 1% statutory
requirement.
Details of how we spent our allocation during 2018-19 are shown below:
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NHS England holds the vast majority of capital assets on behalf of CCGs, and we did not need to bid for
a significant capital resource. Although the CCG has bought IT and other equipment, this expenditure
has not needed to be capitalised. The costs are shown as part of the running costs of the CCG, or within
other expenditure categories if this is more appropriate. We have therefore remained within our
resources, and have complied with the third requirement set out in the financial duties table above.
We are provided with a cash limit, which is based on our planned expenditure. This cash is used to pay
for such things as all the services the CCG commissions from NHS and Non-NHS provider organisations,
Primary Care contracts and other payments, GP prescribing, the running costs of the CCG, and so on. It
draws down a proportion of that limit on a monthly basis. We drew less cash in year than our limit, so
therefore met the fourth requirement of our financial duties above.
As well as staying within the cash envelope, as a public sector organisation, we are expected to ensure
that we pay our obligations promptly. We are required to aim to pay 95% of invoices within 30 days of
receipt of a valid invoice, or within contractual payment terms. This is known as the ‘Better Payments
Practice Code’. Performance against this code is measured by value and volume of invoices paid, and is
shown in Note 4 of the Financial Statements. We are compliant in all areas, with the exception of the
measure of the volume of invoices paid to other NHS organisations, where we achieve 92% (we are
compliant by value). This is due to the number of small value invoices that require data validation.
The ‘Prompt Payments Code’ requires organisations to pay invoices within 10 days. Although we
recognise how important it is, particularly in the current economic climate, to pay suppliers of goods
and services promptly, this is a target to which we would find difficult to comply, due to the invoice
validation process. For this reason, we have opted not to sign up to the Prompt Payments Code.
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Our running cost envelope is set by NHS England at £20.45 per head of the expected population
covered by the CCG commissioning of healthcare services. This resource is to meet all aspects of the
administration and running of the CCG as a statutory body. Our running cost envelope for the 2018-19
financial year was £13.4m. The total actual spend was £12.2m, so complying with the final duty above.
We have therefore met all our financial duties for 2018-19. Although this is a satisfying situation, we
are not complacent about the challenges that 2019-20 will bring.
In addition to the statutory duties, we need to report our position with regard to the Better Care Fund.
The Better Care Fund (BCF) in Hertfordshire is a partnership agreement with Hertfordshire County
Council and two other CCGs that cover healthcare for parts of Hertfordshire (NHS East and North Herts
CCG and NHS Cambridge and Peterborough CCG). It has been put in place to describe the
commissioning arrangements for a range of health and social care services. The fund is hosted by
Hertfordshire County Council. The BCF partnership agreement is based on the national template
developed by NHS England and Bevan Brittan. All funds are overseen by a joint BCF Partnership Board.
A summary can be found in note 9 of the annual accounts on page 159.
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1.6.2 Financial outlook
We will have an allocation of £919.2m in 2019-20, which has been assessed to be 2.47% over our target
financial allocation. The CCG has received total growth of 5.52% for 2019-20. This growth in allocation
needs to fund inflation, demographic and non-demographic growth, and changes to prices and tariff, as
well as national and strategic priorities announced as part of the £20bn additional investment to the
NHS outlined in the long term plan. Priorities from the long term plan are:
1. Doing things differently: Giving people more control over their own health and care, and working in
a more integrated way by joining up GP and community services into primary care networks as well as
wider partnership working through ‘Integrated Care Systems’.
2. Preventing illness and tackling health inequalities: Tackling some of the most significant causes of ill
health such as smoking, drinking and obesity with a focus on the most affected communities and
groups.
3. Backing our workforce: Continuing to increase the NHS workforce by training and recruiting more
professionals as well as working to encourage staff to stay in the NHS.
4. Making better use of data and digital technology: to provide more convenient access to services
and health information for patients, access to patient records and improved service planning and
delivery.
5. Getting the most out of taxpayers’ investment in the NHS: Looking to reduce duplication and spend
on administration and smarter buying of goods and services.

At a strategic level, the CCG operates within the Hertfordshire and West Essex sustainable
transformation partnership (STP), and operational plans have been developed by, and aligned across
Hertfordshire and West Essex STP partners. Closer working across STP partners to achieve efficiencies
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across the Hertfordshire and West Essex system will support the requirement to significantly reduce
running costs. The CCG’s running costs allocation will be reduced by 20% in 2020-21.
Taking into account local and national requirements and priorities, the CCG expects to meet the duty to
contain expenditure within its revenue resource for 2019-20, together with the other financial duties
such as maintaining our 1% cumulative surplus.

1.7 Key issues and risks
The board assurance framework (BAF) is the key mechanism for identifying and ensuring the
management of risks affecting the achievement of our strategic objectives. It draws together the highlevel risks from a variety of sources and enables the CCG board to focus on making sure that the impact
of these risks is minimized through appropriate management action.
The BAF is supported by a risk register that provides a local record of all potential or actual organisational
risks.
In April 2018, the board agreed a change to the CCG’s risk appetite to ‘Seek’, using the Good
Governance Institute ‘Risk Appetite for NHS Organisations’ matrix. That is the CCG is now: “Eager to be
innovative and to choose options offering potentially higher business rewards (despite greater inherent
risk)”. This reflects the large amount of transformation underway in the Hertfordshire and West Essex
health and care system.
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We are managing a number of risks, complete details of which can be found in the annual governance
report in the Risk management arrangements and effectiveness. These risks can be summarised as
follows:
•

The ability of general practice to support other local health care systems such as urgent care.

•

The ability for West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust, Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust and the
East of England Ambulance Service to deliver on key national targets and priorities. For example, A&E
targets, delayed transfers of care targets, referral to treatment times, and ambulance response
times.

•

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust’s ability to sustain improvements to adult community services
while we transition to a new service provider.

•

The ability of our acute trusts to be using fully electronic records by 2020.

•

Workforce and recruitment challenges in both primary and secondary care.

•

The financial challenges in acute care will not allow us to deliver a financially sustainable integrated
healthcare system in collaboration with our partners in the STP.

1.8 Performance summary
Our performance report highlights some specific areas we lead on as well as our activity with the
Hertfordshire and West Essex sustainable transformation partnership (STP).
Clinical commissioning groups are accountable for how they spend public money. Reflecting upon our
overall performance over the year, we are performing particularly well in a number of areas of
dementia care, maternity, mental health, continuing healthcare, end of life care and in patient
experience of our GP services, where we are meeting or exceeding national standards.
However, increased demand for NHS services has presented a significant challenge. Although we had
anticipated meeting all national planning standards and commitments in 2018-19, this has not been
possible for some of our commissioned services.
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We will continue to closely monitor our performance in relation to A&E, ambulance response times
and elective care, while working with our partners to improve next year.
In our annual report you will see the steps we have taken to address this, or mitigating circumstances.
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2. Performance analysis
2.1 Progress on priority areas
One of our main duties is to commission efficient and effective healthcare services that meet the needs
of the population of Herts Valleys who require NHS healthcare. The services we commission are
monitored locally, regionally and at a national level through a range of performance indicators. These
indicators include performance against NHS priorities, including the NHS Constitution Standards along
with a set of benchmark indicators specified within the CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework.
NHS England has a statutory duty (under the Health and Social Care Act (2012)) to conduct an annual
assessment of every CCG. This assurance process aims to ensure that CCGs are commissioning safe,
high quality and cost effective services to achieve the best possible outcomes for patients.
The CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework (CCG IAF) was introduced in 2016-17 and provides
a focus on assisting improvement alongside the statutory assessment function of NHS England. It aligns
with NHS England’s mandate and planning guidance, with the aim of unlocking change and
improvement in a number of key areas. This approach aims to reach beyond CCGs, enabling local
health systems and communities to assess their own progress from ratings published online.
The framework draws together the NHS Constitution, performance and finance metrics, and
transformational challenges. It underpins the delivery of the Five Year Forward View and sets out four
domains that reflect the key elements of well-led and effective clinical commissioning groups listed
below:
Better health: this section looks at how the CCG is contributing towards improving the health and
wellbeing of its population.
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Better care: focus on how CCGs are supporting the redesign of care, performance of constitutional
standards, and improving health outcomes with a specific focus on six clinical areas: mental health,
dementia, learning disabilities, cancer, maternity, and diabetes.
Sustainability: how the CCG is remaining in financial balance, and is securing good value for patients
and the public from the money it spends.
Leadership: assessment of the quality of the CCG’s leadership and strength of its governance, including
the quality of its plans and how the CCG works with its partners.

The 2017-18 annual assessments determined Herts Valleys CCG to be rated as ‘good’. The rating for
CCGs for 2018-19 will be known in July 2019 and will be published on the My NHS website:
www.nhs.uk/mynhs.

2.1.2 My NHS
My NHS is a website where organisations, professionals and the public can compare the performance
of services across health and care, over a range of measures, and on local and national levels. You can
see performance across a range of areas such as health outcomes or how well-led a CCG is by visiting
www.nhs.uk/mynhs.
Our ratings on my NHS show that we are rated as being well-led and perform well in dementia care,
maternity, mental health and patients’ experience of GP services. Areas where our performance needs
improvement include A&E, cancer care, elective care, and learning disabilities.
More information on our performance can be found in the performance analysis report.
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Areas of achievement:
Based on our performance to date in 2018-19, we are expecting to achieve some of the NHS
Constitution Standards, which are listed below:
Dementia: Significantly more than two thirds of those estimated to have dementia in Herts Valleys are
known to their GP, which helps improve their ability to cope and access treatment, care and support.
This level of performance exceeds the national target and we substantially increased the number of
people identified as having dementia on GP registers this year.
Maternity: Maternal smoking at delivery is decreasing and we perform well on this target compared to
other areas in England. According to the Hertfordshire Community Perinatal Team’s final evaluation –
April 2019, the Community Perinatal Team has been successfully established, and is currently meeting
national access requirements: 5% of mothers can access support, either during pregnancy or during the
first year after birth. This equates to around 730 women a year in Hertfordshire. In addition to this, 200
multi-agency professionals have completed accredited Infant Mental Health (IMHOL) training.
Mental health: We have increased funding for psychological therapies under the improving access to
psychological therapies (IAPT) programme. By the end of February March 2019 there have been
12,777 people entering treatment and the recovery rate for those who have completed treatment is
54.77% 53.6%.We have also maintained waiting times at well above the national targets of 75% of
people seen within 6 weeks and 95% of people within 18 weeks.
Continuing healthcare (CHC): The percentage of NHS CHC full assessments taking place in an acute
hospital setting has fallen this year and we are in the best performing quartile in England. Our
Continuing Healthcare service within the CCG provides assessment, review, and case management to
adults found eligible for CHC who are registered with a CCG GP. The team are made up of specialist
nurses, administrators, and placement officers. The CCG quality committee have oversight of CHC
delivery. Over the last year, the CHC service has delivered an extensive improvement plan and
developed a standard operating procedure. We are leading in the development of personal health
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budgets (PHBs) within CHC and Children and Young People's Continuing Care (CYPCC) across the STP
and are developing and implementing a personal health budgets hub to support this work. PHBs are
our default delivery for all CHC home care packages.
The CHC team have been recognised by the NHS England Regional CHC team and received an award in
March for consistently meeting our Quality Premium targets over the last 5 months.
End of life care: The percentage of deaths with three or more emergency admissions in the last three
months of life has decreased in our area. This is positive and means we are one of the better
performing CCGs.
We launched a pilot Rapid Personalised Care Service in September this year. This pilot will run for 18
months. The Rapid Personalised Care service is designed to provide personalised care at home for
patients identified as having significant ongoing healthcare needs who are approaching the end of life
with a prognosis of less than 3 months.
The service model is run in partnership between the three west Hertfordshire hospices (Peace Hospice
Care, Rennie Grove Hospice Care, and The Hospice of St Francis) who are specialists in palliative
healthcare.
The service is designed to help prevent unnecessary hospital admissions and allow more patients to
return to their homes rapidly after a stay in a healthcare setting, through being cared for by palliative
and end of life care specialists.
The pilot will be reviewed at six and 12 months to make a decision on whether to extend the pilot to a
fully commissioned service or move service provision back to continuing healthcare after 18 months.
Diagnostics: The percentage of patients waiting six weeks or more for a diagnostic test remains low in
west Hertfordshire and we continue to meet our targets.
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2.1.3 Healthcare in west Hertfordshire
2018-19 has been a challenging year both nationally and locally for health and care services. The
success over many years in increasing life expectancy means that we have increasing demand for
primary, community, social and hospital care.
This ageing population, along with ever growing numbers of treatments and growing expectations, is
increasing the demand for services at a time when funding for public services is not increasing to
match. This has resulted in demand outstripping capacity in our main providers, most notably in
increased use of hospital beds and the challenges associated with securing suitable out of hospital care
so that patients can be discharged from those beds.

2.1.4 Improving our performance
It is clear that there have been a number of performance challenges in 2018-19 and many of these
challenges are expected to continue into 2019-20. We continue to work with the East of England
cancer alliance, the west Hertfordshire local System Resilience Group, NHS Improvement, and NHS
England to strengthen performance. A key priority has been to deliver on core NHS Constitution
standards for the local population. We have tried to strengthen the link between performance and
quality to encourage providers to give both to our patients.
The key areas of priorities for action are outlined below:
Elective access:
Patients have a right to start their non-emergency NHS consultant-led treatment within a maximum of
18 weeks from referral. The national standard sets out that 92% of patients should start their
treatment within this time. Like many other acute trusts, it has been a challenging year for West
Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust (WHHT) in relation to achieving the Referral to Treatment (RTT)
targets.
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We have worked closely with WHHT to improve the RTT performance overall. Good progress has been
made during the past year by the teams at West Herts working with Herts Valleys and currently no
patients are waiting more than 52 weeks for treatment - other than a very small number who were
unable to accept dates that would have enabled them to be treated within that timeframe (Those
patients were all scheduled for treatment within April 2019). Our focus will be to continue to work with
WHHT to further reduce the amount of people waiting more than 18 weeks for treatment. We
continue to work with WHHT to improve the Trust’s waiting list position. We want to ensure that the
volume of capacity for elective treatment is sufficient to reduce the waiting list numbers.
Operational meetings occur at WHHT with us on a weekly and monthly basis to review the progress
made and to discuss any potential and imminent challenges. These will continue for the foreseeable
future.
To reduce waiting times for patients already on the waiting list and patients who have recently been
referred, a range of initiatives are in place at both at the CCG and WHHT. These initiatives include:
•

Additional ring-fenced elective capacity at Watford General Hospital

•

A pilot of an Enhanced Care Model at St Albans City Hospital to enable more complex patients
to be treated there.

•

We commissioned the outsourcing of treatment to a number of local non-NHS providers.

All of the actions taken by both the Trust and the CCG put WHHT in a good position to improve
performance in 2019-20 and for that performance to be sustained.
Cancer:
We firmly believe that our patient population should expect to receive high quality cancer care. We are
fully committed to working with our provider Trusts to deliver the cancer waiting time targets.
However, 2018-19 has been a challenging year for cancer performance with an increase of
approximately 30% in 2-week wait referrals and approximately 15% in the number of cancers
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diagnosed. This has applied additional pressure in the system, particularly for diagnostics and first
treatments.
Our local Trusts have risen to the challenge, although this has meant that they have not consistently
met all of the targets, in particular East & North Herts Trust and the Royal Free who are still regularly
some way off meeting the 62-day first treatment following GP urgent referral.
We continue to work with our colleagues across the Hertfordshire and West Essex STP and
neighbouring CCGs to support the improvement in the delivery of cancer services by the Trusts. Our
focus will continue to be the early diagnosis of cancer and access to timely treatment within 62 days of
receipt of referral.
It is encouraging that the STP has secured just over a £4m share of the East of England Cancer Alliance
transformation funding to help transform the early diagnosis of cancer and the services provided to
people who have or have had cancer across Hertfordshire and West Essex.

Emergency and urgent care
The NHS Constitution states that a minimum of 95% of patients attending Emergency Departments
must be seen or treated and then admitted or discharged in under four hours. This is often referred to
as ‘four hour standard’ or ‘Emergency Care Standard’.
The four hour standard is also an indicator of how the whole health and social care system is managing
its population, especially how patients flow through the system and access the service that most
appropriately meets their needs.
We failed to deliver on the Emergency Care Standard for ‘all type’ treatment group categories (A&E,
urgent treatment centre and minor injuries unit), although the performance for type 3 treatment
categories (urgent treatment centre or minor injuries) remains consistently above 98%. The total
number of A&E attendances across England was higher than last year, but this is not an issue only
related to west Hertfordshire. Although high attendances at A&E are a problem in west Herts, blocks in

Page 24

patient flow through the system are also a cause for not meeting the standard. We have worked to
improve patient flow this year. We anticipated emergency winter pressures and carried out a detailed
analysis. We developed a comprehensive plan across the health and social care system. The plan
provided for additional bed capacity to meet the demand throughout the winter period. It also
featured support to get patients back to their homes rather than have extended stays in either acute or
community hospitals. Part of the plan included implementing a GP streaming model at A&E at Watford
General Hospital. This means that we placed a GP at the entrance to A&E to asses and triage patients
as they entered the department to try to improve the flow of patients through the department. This
model is currently under review. Workshops are in place to consider the development of an Urgent
Treatment Centre (UTC) approach for patients first arriving at A&E.

Delayed transfer of care: The NHS Constitution also states that no more than 3.5% of patients should
experience a delayed transfer of care. This is where patients are ready to return home or transfer to
another form of care but still occupy a hospital bed. We are now achieving this required achievement
in line with our Better Care Fund plans across west Hertfordshire.
After the detailed analysis of anticipated winter pressures in west Hertfordshire, the plan put in place
has joined together a focus on reducing the high rates of bed occupancy and increasing capacity in
social care with the aim of reducing additional pressures in the system.
We are working hard to maintain and improve our performance. We are working with local providers
and the Hertfordshire and West Essex STP to improve systems and processes to ensure a whole
systems approach to delivering high quality resilient services all year round. We have an urgent care
strategy, which, along with the Hertfordshire and West Essex STP, sets out the vision for the future
provision of services supporting the transformation of the whole urgent and emergency care system.
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Initiatives include:
-

A live cross-system view of capacity and pressure for operational and strategic management across
the Hertfordshire and West Essex STP footprint.

-

Joining-up computer systems across the Hertfordshire and West Essex STP footprint.

-

Developing integrated primary, community and hospital services to reduce emergency attendances
and admissions.

-

Consideration of the development of an Urgent Treatment Centre at Watford General Hospital as
the first point of call for patients attending A&E to help triage patients, reduce pressures in the flow
of patients and therefore improve the performance against the Emergency Care standard.

-

Redefining how patients make their way through the system when they are being assessed,
including a more direct route to ambulatory care. This is in order to maximise same day emergency
care and to reduce admissions.

-

Planning for the development of the minor injuries unit to meet Urgent Treatment Centre criteria.

-

Considering how we re-commission some services in order to develop the potential for
strengthening the Integrated Urgent Care services.

Ambulance service
The Independent Service Review for the East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust (EEAST) was
completed in 2018. Part of the review analysed the additional costs that may be required in order that
EEAST would have the financial support to make changes that benefit and improve patient experience.
The review findings concluded that extra investment of circa £12m was required for 2018-19 with a
further £15m in 2019-20, in order that EEAST may be able to meet standards.
NHS England and NHS Improvement have liaised closely with EEAST and a key priority for EEAST
identified in 2018-19 was the prioritisation of its recruitment, training, and retention plan for its staff.
Gaps in staffing numbers meant EEAST continued to find meeting performance targets challenging.
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EEAST has recently experienced a change of senior leadership. An internal review was completed with
an Integrated Action Plan shared with its workforce and commissioning bodies. The focus of the
integrated action plan was to ensure there was dedicated accountability and improved governance to
support organisational and process changes.
Commissioners will continue to work closely with EEAST via formal contract and quality performance
meetings, in order to ensure patients are treated as quickly as possible in the most appropriate
pathway for their needs as indicated within the Ambulance Response Programme.
Non-emergency patient transport service
We work as part of a consortium of CCGs across Hertfordshire, Luton and Bedfordshire to provide the
Non-Emergency Patient Transport Service (NEPTS). The service provides transport to and from
hospitals and treatment centres for patients with planned appointments, including treatment such as
dialysis, radiotherapy, and chemotherapy, as well as supporting hospital discharges.
A formal 2 year contract (with an option to extend for a further 12 months) with East of England
Ambulance Service Trust (EEAST) commenced in January 2018 to provide non-emergency patient
transport.
EEAST have experienced challenges around recruitment in the Watford area this year. We have actively
supported EEAST with engagement at a senior level, outsourcing some of the transport to other
companies to bridge the gap in provision, and being actively involved in their recruitment processes.
We really value patient feedback and make sure we receive it through working with organisations such
as Healthwatch, a local renal patient association and our own patient networks.
Feedback from patients with regard to the care shown by NEPTS’ staff is positive and this is evidenced
through a continuing and significant improvement in the delivery of key performance indicators and
the decline in the number of complaints EEAST receive in relation to NEPTS, with on average one
complaint raised for every 614 journeys.
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Looking ahead, we will build on our positive relationship with EEAST and continue to strengthen and
develop the service, as well as working collaboratively with local stakeholders.
Improvements have been made in a number of key quality and performance targets:
•

Arrival time to a renal dialysis appointment (up to 60 mins before appointment)
April 2018

62%

Jan 2019

91%

We are on track to sustain the target of 90% in May 2019.
•

End of Life patients collected when ready (within 60 mins)
April 2018

46%

Jan 2019

77%

We are on track to achieve the target of 95% by May 2019.
•

Collection time of “on the day” discharged (within 90 mins of being ready)
April 2018

61%

Jan 2019

76%

We are on track to achieve the target of 95% by May 2019.
Learning disabilities
Specialist inpatient care is improving in west Hertfordshire. We continue to work closely with our
partners to improve the health of people with a learning disability. With support from community
learning disability nurses and the GP lead for learning disabilities, GP practices have successfully
increased the number of learning disability annual health checks (that have been completed) from 64%
in 2017-18 to 74% in 2018-19. By increasing the delivery of annual health checks for people with a
learning disability we aim to recognise and treat any health conditions much earlier, thereby reducing
the likelihood of further complications.
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2.2 Sustainable Development
Over the past couple of years, and during 2018-19, we have continued to work with other
organisations as part of the Hertfordshire and West Essex Sustainability and Transformation
Partnership. This is so that we can develop and deliver plans to ensure the transformation of services.
We want to improve the health outcomes and quality of services for our population.
These transformation plans will require significant change to how we commission and provide services
in the future, and provide an excellent opportunity to ensure we embed social, environmental, and
economic value as we move our plans forward.
As a public sector organisation responsible for spending public funds, we have an obligation to work in
a way that has a positive effect on the communities for which we commission and procure healthcare
services.
Sustainability means using public money wisely, the smart and efficient use of natural resources and
building healthy, resilient communities. By making the most of social, environmental and economic
assets we can improve health both in the immediate and long term even in the context of the rising
cost of natural resources.
As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute towards the level
of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, public health and social care
system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) by 2020.
2.2.1 Our sustainable development management plan
In 2018-19, we renewed our sustainable development management plan (SDMP), outlining how we will
embed sustainability in our organisation. We agreed to adopt the goals set out in the Sustainable
Development Strategy for the Health, Public Health and Social Care System 2014 – 2020:
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The goals can be found here:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/sustainable-development-strategy-for-the-health-andsocial-care-system-2014-to-2020
2.2.2 Our environmental impact
While our carbon footprint has been increasing over the last couple of years, and from the original
baseline, this is mainly due to the growth of the organisation itself and associated staffing, as well as an
increase in spend on the services that we commission. The estimated carbon footprint for each
employee has actually reduced significantly from 310 tCO2e in 2014/15 to 263 tCO2e in 2018/19.
One of the ways in which we measure our impact as an organisation on corporate social responsibility
is through the use of the Sustainable Development Audit Tool (SDAT). The last time we used the SDAT
self-assessment was in February 2019 scoring 57% (an increase from the score we received in 2018 of
51%). The table below shows the compliance achieved by the CCG in each of the different domains:
Domain

% compliance
2018-19

Corporate approach

61%

Asset management and utilities

52%

Travel and logistics

71%

Adaptation

82%

Capital projects

27%

Green space and biodiversity

44%

Sustainable care models

51%

Our people

66%

Sustainable use of resources

25%

Carbon / GHGs

49%
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More information on these measures is available here:
http://www.sduhealth.org.uk/policy-strategy/reporting/sdmp-annual-reporting.aspx
The SDAT showed that we could particularly improve in the following areas:
Sustainable use of resources: It is estimated that we spent 12.8% less on energy this year than last
year. In fact, our combined energy usage has reduced since 2014-15. Electricity usage has greatly
reduced since 2014-15. Gas consumption has also reduced since 2014-15. However, gas usage is still
considerably higher than the original baseline for 2013-14 and has started to increase again over the
last couple of years. Unfortunately, as gas usage is centrally controlled by the landlord of the premises
we currently occupy, it is difficult for us to have any significant impact on this.
Based on the estimated data, it looks as if the landfill waste produced by our staff this year has
remained the same as in 2017-18, although there has been a general reduction since 2013.The
estimated data also indicates that rates of recycling have increased since 2017-18, although generally,
over time, rates have remained fairly static. Our waste amounts are calculated based on a proportion
of that produced by all of the tenants in the buildings that we occupy and therefore it is a real
challenge to change these significantly without involving them. We have previously tried to engage
other tenants at Hemel One in this respect, but with no success.
The estimated data shows that water usage and volumes of waste water have reduced since 2014-15.
This has been achieved through more modern and efficient premises, reducing the number of
operational sites and promoting water efficiency to raise staff awareness.
To read our full report, please visit our website.
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2.2.3 Relocation of premises
We relocated to Hemel Hempstead town centre in March 2019, taking up space in the Dacorum
Borough Council offices at The Forum - a new, energy-efficient building, which opened in January 2017.
The move presents an opportunity for the CCG to strengthen sustainable links with the borough
council, partner organisations and the local community and to increase our visibility.
This is very much in keeping with our future direction around our integration agenda with all
stakeholders so that we coordinate our efforts to improve people’s health and wellbeing.
As well as fostering closer relationships with the local community, the move means that our office
rental payments will stay in the public sector.
2.3 Improve quality
Quality is a major priority for us. One of our strategic objectives for 2018-19 was to commission safe,
good quality services that meet the needs of the population, reducing health inequalities and
supporting local people to avoid ill health and stay well.
During 2017-18, we implemented changes to ensure that quality remains a key focus during
challenging financial times. This year we have continued to embed those changes. The robust scrutiny
of all CCG QIPP plans and financial decisions, including the embedding of a quality impact assessment
policy, continues for all commissioning decisions.
We have discharged our duty to improve quality under Section 14Z2 of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended
2012) by ensuring that we commission safe and high quality patient care from appropriately accredited
and regulated/approved providers.
This is enhanced through robust quality schedules and commissioning for quality and innovation
schemes (CQUINs) within contracts with all providers including newly commissioned services and

Page 32

pathways as they are developed. The achievement levels of provider CQUINS are regularly reported to
the CCG’s Quality Committee.
We monitor provider quality through regular contract and quality review meetings.
A key development in how we manage this process has been the implementation of a focussed
performance and quality lead to facilitate the relationship between performance and the real impact it
has on patients.
We receive and act on key quality reports such as serious incidents and ‘never events’, complaints and
safeguarding reports in order to gain assurance in the processes, outcomes and learning from these
reports.
Through the serious incident panel process at the CCG, a number of key improvements have been
identified.
In addition, the CCG has strengthened its scrutiny processes relating to serious incidents by introducing
a patient representative to the panel to involve patients in our decisions, to support discussions,
participate by providing an independent and objective view aimed at enhancing the patient
experience.

2.3.1 Provider performance ratings
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT) has maintained their rating of ‘good’, which they achieved
following a Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection in 2018.
Hertfordshire Partnership Foundation NHS Trust (HPFT) were inspected by the CQC in March 2019, the
results of that inspection are due later in 2019. They are currently rated as ‘good’. Regular quality
monitoring visits are carried out jointly with East and North Herts CCG to ensure that services meet the
needs of patients.
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NHS Improvement (NHSI) announced in January 2018 that West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust has
been moved out of special measures, though the Trust’s overall rating remains ‘requires improvement'.
The most recent CQC Inspection Report was published in February 2019. Overall, the Trust remains
rated as ‘requires improvement’ and services at St Albans and Hemel Hempstead Hospitals have gone
down in rating in a couple of areas. For St Albans Hospital, the areas of ‘safe’ and ‘well led’ are now
rated as inadequate. Hemel Hempstead Hospital is now rated as inadequate for ‘well led’. The CQC
noted the improvement work undertaken at the Watford site which resulted in the score for ‘well led ‘
improving to a rating of good for this area.
We will continue to work with WHHT, and in collaboration with NHS England and NHS Improvement, to
build on the improvements already made.
During 2018-19, we conducted a joint quality assurance visit with NHSI and patient representatives to
review the Trust’s Emergency Department. The visit demonstrated the leadership improvements, with
only minor recommendations made. We will continue these quality assurance visits into 2019-20,
focussing on the specific areas identified through our quality monitoring processes. We will focus on
these improvements being supported at both St Albans and Hemel Hempstead Hospital sites.

2.3.4 Integrated personal commissioning
Integrated personal commissioning (IPC) is an ambitious programme that seeks to systematically
harness the potential of people and their families needing support to be active co-producers of that
support. Central to IPC is the integration of health, social care and the voluntary sector to pull together
the resources available to people, and to work with people to understand and plan how best to use
these resources.
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In 2018-19, we were one of 11 national sites to expand our programme from IPC to the wider
personalised care agenda, as well as expanding our geographical partnership to include West Essex
CCG (WECCG), Herts Valleys CCG (HVCCG), East and North Herts CCG (ENHCCG) and Hertfordshire
County Council (HCC).
The expansion of the programme attracted a higher level of funding as well as increased targets across
the personalised care programme, which we have worked closely with NHS England to develop.
As personalisation forms a large section of the newly published NHS Long Term Plan, we are confident
that we have a strong foundation upon which to build the personalised care offer in our STP. Our
approach will continue to focus on developing an integrated approach to supporting and promoting
people’s choice and control, as well as identifying local leads to champion the approach on the front
line, building on the successes of our 100-day challenge.
The STP’s personalised care programme is also aligned to and supported by our STP leads, and forms
part of the core approach to our STP health and care strategy. We envisage the development of our
approach will focus on local partnerships between health and care providers and voluntary sector
providers to increase choice and knowledge at locality level, as well as leading wider, regional shared
understanding of the approach, in line with the national agenda.

2.3.4 Infection control
The Director of Nursing and Quality continues to jointly lead the STP Infection Prevention and Control
Group, which meets quarterly. This is a system wide forum where providers and commissioners work
to minimise harm caused by healthcare associated infections (HCAIs) to patients and staff across the
local health economy. This is achieved through the sharing of learning, and by driving forward
improvements within local Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) practice. Priorities for this group over
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the last 12 months have included collaboration with providers to reduce inappropriate antibiotic
prescribing, manage antibiotic resistant bacteria, and minimise their transmission, as well as to reduce
the burden and impact of urinary tract infections across the health economy.
Reviews of healthcare associated infections, and any infection related incidents or outbreaks in
healthcare settings are also undertaken, and assurance sought by us that any learning identified drives
improvement in practice.
By the end of December 2018, the number of cases of Clostridium difficile infection (C. diff) had
reduced by 9% compared to the previous year. Alongside MRSA blood stream infections, these rates
have remained below regional rates of infection. However, the number of Escherichia coli (E. coli)
blood stream infections in the west Hertfordshire population has continued to increase from previous
years. Although this reflects the national picture, targeted work to further address these infections that
are primarily related to the urinary tract is planned. Plans are also in place to build on current
surveillance systems to better understand the root causes of these infections locally.
During 2018-19, contractual arrangements for the management of respiratory outbreaks in care homes
have been put in place in order to minimise the impact on residents, as well as to reduce pressure on
the local health system caused by closed care homes during the flu season.

2.3.5 Quality of general practice
Overall, the quality of general practice in west Hertfordshire is very good, and this has been reflected in
our Care Quality Commission (CQC) ratings. All of our Herts Valleys practices have been visited by the
CQC. Of these, one has been rated ‘outstanding’ and 58 practices have been rated as ‘good’. These
results are also reflected in the outcome of the national GP patient survey. In 2018, GP Patient Survey
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results ranked GP practices in the Herts Valleys between 9th and 43rd of all CCGs nationally. Herts
Valleys CCG is the third highest performing in NHS England Central Midlands region.
2.3.6 Safeguarding our vulnerable residents
We work alongside our partner agencies to identify and prevent all forms of abuse and neglect so that
everyone is able to make a full and positive contribution to society in our area.
Safeguarding adults at risk
Our Director of Nursing and Quality and Head of Adult Safeguarding are members of the Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Adult Board (HSAB). This means we can work with partners to constantly improve the
outcomes for adults at risk across Hertfordshire.
This year, in addition to providing training to GPs and practice nurses on adult safeguarding, we
provided evidence to a health scrutiny topic group on Safeguarding Adult Reviews, completed the first
year of HSAB assurance visits to partner agencies and began the second year with a revised selfassessment template. As Chair of the domestic homicide sub group, the head of adult safeguarding has
worked with colleagues to develop a work plan, which has delivered a revision of the domestic
homicide review process, training for panel chairs and developed a process for quality assuring the
overview report. We have developed a CCG training strategy and the Named Nurse has worked with
the children’s safeguarding team and the organisational learning and development team to develop
and implement level 2 training for CCG staff. We have gained sufficient assurance from our main health
providers regarding their adult safeguarding activities.
We will continue to work with a number of other groups to ensure that we play an active role in
protecting adults at risk of harm.
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Safeguarding children
Children have the right to be protected from harm and neglect and to be enabled to develop as healthy
individuals. Safeguarding children is a priority for us and there is a continuous commitment to minimise
the risk of neglect, physical, sexual and/or emotional harm to all children and young people in
Hertfordshire.
The CCG employs a designated safeguarding children team, who monitor provider organisations and
provide assurance that commissioned services have measures in place to safeguard and protect
children at risk of harm. This is achieved through the analysis of contracts, audit, ensuring appropriate
provider service training, review of processes and policy, quarterly dashboard monitoring, attendance
at provider safeguarding committees, constructive challenge and supervision of named professionals.
There are robust systems in place to ensure all provider health organisations are fully compliant with
Section 11 of the Children Act (2004), including scrutiny through action planning, audit scheduling and
quality meeting reporting.
Health is now an equal partner, with Hertfordshire County Council and Hertfordshire Constabulary,
within the revised Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Partnership arrangements though 2018
legislation and revised guidance. The Director of Nursing and Quality and Designated professionals
regularly attend executive, and sub group meetings and contribute to multi-agency working.
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Key Achievements in 2018-19:
•

Comprehensive training was delivered to primary care, covering contextual safeguarding,
suicide, allegations and genital injury. This was together with delivery of training by named
GP’s, as required by practices.

•

Ongoing work in relation to serious case review actions and subsequent development of new
protocols where needed, to ensure safe and effective safeguarding practice.

•

Development of a multi-agency safeguarding supervision strategy to promote quality of
practice across all agencies.

•

Contributed to revised multi-agency partnership and early adopter arrangements, which
commenced in January 2019.

•

Review of child death process in accordance with revised 2018 guidance, to ensure all child
death is reviewed appropriately and any learning identified and disseminated.

•

Continued assurance provided to NHSE evidenced though the Safeguarding Assurance Tool.

•

Looked After Children and Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children work streams continue in
partnership with Hertfordshire County Council.

Current safeguarding children practice includes the timely completion of Section 11 monitoring of
provider health services and formulation of provider auditing schedules, in order that we can review
progress and compliance with CCG recommendations, made during the Section 11 visit. The team will
continue to work in collaboration with partner agencies and the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children
Partnership (HSCP) to advance the development of a number of work streams, with an aim to improve
care and practice for children and young people in Hertfordshire. Support for primary care will be
supported by the designated team through formal and bespoke training, specialist advice and support.
The designated team will maintain an oversight of serious case reviews through attendance at serious
case review panel meetings.
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2.3.7 Complaints
We strive to promote a culture of patient and public involvement throughout the organisation and
welcome feedback from patients, carers and relatives to identify where services and patient
experience can be improved. Where a complaint or enquiry is made, the CCG will handle these in an
honest and open way, with the principal aims of resolving the complaint, satisfying the complainant’s
concerns, and learning from the experience. We pay particular importance to monitoring of
complaints. Repeated complaints or concerns relating to a particular area or service can be an indicator
of serious and systemic failings.
During 2018/19 a total of 72 formal complaints were received and investigated by the CCG. The key
themes arising from these complaints related to:
•

•

Continuing Healthcare


Dissatisfaction with the process



Dissatisfaction with assessment outcomes



Delays in retrospective reviews

A new service commissioned by the CCG to provide MSK services within the community

The management and handling of complaints is overseen by the Nursing and Quality Team. The
numbers and the themes and trends of complaints and the Team’s adherence to key performance
indicators are monitored by the Quality Committee, a sub-committee of the Board. The CCG’s Quality
Committee receives information and assurance on performance on a quarterly basis that complaints
are being managed in line with relevant legislation, national guidelines and local policy.
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2.4 Engaging people and communities
2.4.1 Involving patients and the public in what we do
Our number one strategic objective for 2018-19 was effective engagement. Our aim is to continually
improve engagement with member practices, patients, the public, carers and our staff to contribute to
and influence our work. It is also our legal duty to engage and involve.
We involve the public in planning, decision-making, and proposals for change that will impact on
individuals or groups and how health services are provided to them. We invite people to work with us
in a number of different ways including receiving our newsletters, attending events, becoming a
patient representative on a committee or representing their local area and networks as a member of
our public participation and involvement (PPI) Committee. This committee reports directly to our
board. This year, we have updated and reviewed our participation plan in partnership with our PPI
Committee and involving local people.

2.4.2 Participation Strategy
This year we refreshed our participation strategy with our two patient representatives at the board as
key contributors. We have also sought feedback widely from stakeholders and partners including:
•

PPI committee

•

Board lay member for patient involvement

•

Local west Herts Patient Participation Group (PPG) network

•

Healthwatch Hertfordshire

•

NHS England

•

Local NHS providers

•

Hertfordshire County Council scrutiny officers
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Comments from partners were incorporated in the strategy.
This refreshed strategy gives us an increased focus on a number of key areas:
•

More involvement from those groups who tend not to engage – particularly the equality groups
and also young people;

•

More involvement from those who are disadvantaged in terms of health outcomes, such as
those from more deprived communities and people with a learning disability;

•

Greater emphasis on recording, feeding back and evaluating our participation work;

•

Increased structure and rigour to patient involvement in programme activity.

•

Clearer aims and objectives – such as improved NHS England assessments.

2.4.3 Patient and Public Involvement (PPI) Committee
The role of our PPI Committee is to provide assurance to our board that there is meaningful
participation in the business of the organisation from patients, carers, families, and members of the
public across the locality. Its role also includes the review of strategies and proposals to offer views
from patients' perspectives.
The committee is made up of two patient representatives from each of our four localities, a
Healthwatch Hertfordshire representative, and it is chaired by our lay board member with
responsibility for PPI. A patient member of the committee also sits at our board as a patient
representative. This role is currently shared by two patient representatives.
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Activities the PPI Committee have undertaken this year include:
•

discussing all consultation proposals prior to their launch, so that the committee can input into
and influence plans for the communications and engagement and the proposals themselves;

•

receiving regular updates on service redesign and procurement with an opportunity to find out
and question patient involvement in the process;

•

feeding back and updating their locality networks to enhance communication with local people
and groups.

We also have patient representatives on the following board committees to ensure the patient voice is
integrated into all discussions.
•

Commissioning Executive

•

Quality

•

Primary care commissioning committee

•

Performance committee

This year we have included patients on all our quality visits. We have also included patients on West
Herts Hospitals NHS Trust contract quality committee.

2.4.4 Health and Wellbeing Ambassadors
This year we have continued to work with a group of patient representatives to develop a role within
the CCG for health and wellbeing ambassadors. This role supports engagement on local and national
NHS consultations and campaigns such and Help us help you -Stay Well This Winter. Our current
ambassadors have helped to identify, within their local communities, opportunities to promote
information and campaigns and use their local networks to encourage participation. They also take the
opportunity to feedback any issues or concerns on current health care.
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Ambassadors have linked into numerous networks, previously untapped, such as dementia cafes (as
participants and volunteers), home care staff, leisure centres, and health walk. They have shared
information, raised awareness, and encouraged others to get involved.
We continue to review this programme, considering any lessons learnt, to develop it further and
recruit more members from our patient networks and the wider community so that we can engage
better with all our local communities.
2.4.5 PPI development sessions
We have regular development sessions, which are well attended by patient representatives and
practice participation group members, on average between 50 – 70 people. These enable patients to
become better informed about the NHS and its services and to become stronger influencers within
their own networks by increasing their knowledge and confidence. Over the year, the network has
discussed: extended GP access, patient choice, medicine waste, and NHS 111.
At these sessions, we provide context to proposals from both a national and local level. For example,
the financial position, so that patients can make an informed contribution. Our commissioning
colleagues are also given an opportunity to hear, first hand, the patient perspective and incorporate
this into their planning.
2.4.6 GP practice participation group (PPG) network
Working with our PPI Committee, we have established a PPG network which meets regularly to
broaden our engagement and establish communication channels with the ever-increasing number of
local people who are involved with their GP surgery. The network currently has an ever- growing
patient and practice staff membership of over 160 and the network responds to the needs and
suggestions of PPGs who have influence agendas. Network members were also instrumental in the
formation of a social network Yammer site with over 130 members to share information, good practice
and support the development of active groups.
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2.4.7 Patient involvement in developing our patient-focused services
We routinely involve patients in the procurement and re-design of services. We ask that they bring the
patient perspective to discussions and these are incorporated into plans along with views and
information from other stakeholders.
Patients interested in taking part in procurements can attend an information session where we explain
what is involved. We now have patients on a number of procurement and service re-design groups
where the representatives form an integral part of the procurement working group and input into
service specifications, market engagement and evaluation.
As an example, patient representatives gave valuable input to help develop the falls pathway support
tools. The Herts Valleys Planned and Primary Care Network patient participation group reviewed the
‘Step by step guide to staying independent and preventing falls in Hertfordshire’. This was also
reviewed by an East and North Herts CCG patient group which helped us to consider the use of
language in developing an accessible tool that can be used by all patients, carers and professionals
alike.
The frailty and falls pathways were also discussed in a PPI development session in May.
Comments from patients who were involved in our service redesigns can be found in the Delivering on
change in west Hertfordshire section of this report.

2.4.8 ‘Let’s get connected’
We hold a programme of events: ‘Community support: let’s get connected’. These events are designed
to bring together members of GP practice participation groups (PPGs), along with representatives from
a range of community support groups, to discuss ways that these groups might work together.
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The aim of these events is to:
1. Raise awareness of local support groups and the range of support they offer
2. Discuss the ways that support groups can encourage their members and clients to participate in
patient groups and influence the way that local health care is provided.
These events include market stalls and verbal introductions of the work of local groups, to build up
knowledge within PPGs and to encourage the social prescribing model, to enable PPG members to be
able to signpost to support organisations and networks. These events have helped the implementation
of social prescribing by PPGs, enabled the groups to link with their local community, and encouraged
people to join PPGs and influence the way that their practice delivers services. The most recent ‘Let’s
get connected’ events were held in Hemel Hempstead in November 2018 and April 2019 in
Borehamwood.
2.4.9 Reader panel
Our reader panel continues to help in the development of written patient information from the CCG
and other organisations. Made up of patients, carers, community members and other stakeholders the
panel provide a view on whether information is easy to understand, accessible and free from jargon.
Examples of where the panel have provided feedback include: patient information on changes to the
availability of over-the-counter medication on prescription; leg ulcer poster and leaflet; and hospital
discharge pack.
2.4.10 Locality patient involvement
The insight from the patient representatives is invaluable in terms of providing feedback to the board.
The St Albans and Harpenden Patient Group (SAPG) is a very active group both at local and individual
level. Representatives from SAPG regularly attend monthly Locality Commissioning Committees (LCC)
to ensure that the committee considers the patient journey during their discussions. The group also
ensures strategic overviews and service redesigns and planning are brought into the public domain. For
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example, at their last SAPG meeting held in March 2019, discussions focussed on the urgent care
approach for the locality. The group were keen to hear from Herts Valleys CCG Executives, Herts
Valleys CCG board GPs and West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust on how the urgent care approach
could reduce pressure on other healthcare facilities as well as being appropriate and convenient for
patients to access.
The Hertsmere patient participation group (PPG) is a subcommittee of our locality committee with two
representatives invited to attend. The Hertsmere locality provider board is currently implementing
pathways relating to falls and frailty and medicine wastage, which has been prioritised as two areas
that could deliver most change.
We are currently building our patient network in Watford and Three Rivers with two patient
representatives attending locality meetings and an event in March 2019 to bring all the practice patient
participation groups together. Dacorum also welcome patient representatives to their locality
meetings, two patient members attend the monthly Dacorum Commissioning Committee.

2.4.11 Patient involvement in our integrated urgent care strategy
Urgent care services for patients in west Hertfordshire have been developing during 2018-19, in line
with the developing west Hertfordshire urgent care strategy, led by the CCG. The strategy is aiming to
create a more integrated urgent care system with all parts of the NHS working together to make sure
patients with varying physical and mental health needs receive effective, timely care first time, in the
right place. The multi-agency group that is developing urgent care services also includes patient
representatives and a range of stakeholders to set clear objectives and implementation plans in line
with best practice examples and the aims of the five year forward view.
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2.4.12 Engaging with local authority partners
Senior representatives from Herts Valleys CCG have actively engaged with the democratic process of
local authorities through council meetings, scrutiny committees and meetings of health and wellbeing
boards. This engagement is ongoing and wide ranging covering areas including the how hospital
services are provided in future, the decisions on the provision of Nascot Lawn respite services, and
managing the quality of provider services.
In addition to close working with Hertfordshire County Council’s scrutiny committee, we have taken
part in a number of key discussions at district level.

2.5 Reducing health inequality
A key challenge for Herts Valleys CCG is ensuring all our local communities experience equitable health
outcomes across our population. We continuously monitor and analyse the impact of our policies and
programmes on different ‘protected’ groups in the community and carry out evidence-based service
reviews. As an organisation, we work with partners including Hertfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing
Board and the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership to address the wider determinants of
health.
When redesigning and developing new services our aim is to improve health outcomes and the
experiences of patients, carers, communities and the workforce through effective and efficient
commissioning, partnership working, and good governance.
In order to fully understand the needs of our population, an analysis is undertaken supported by joint
strategic needs assessment (JSNA) data and a gap analysis of current service provision and, where
possible, qualitative data from service users and providers. This information is supplemented with the
11 NHS Outcome Framework Indicators for health inequalities and national sources of data such as
RightCare packs and fingertips. As part of this process, inequalities are identified and addressed and we
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also identify the outcomes needed to be achieved in order to reduce inequalities. These then form key
performance indicators (KPIs) which are contractually monitored on an on-going basis.
We develop new and redesigned services by evaluating best practice models. Equality and quality
impact assessments (EQIAs) are undertaken as part of the development of business cases for services
and these inform the discussions and the decision making process.
The CCG is actively involved in the local Health and Wellbeing Board and STP, where key stakeholders
come together to set targets to address local health inequalities. A key focus for 2018-19 has been
prevention and supporting our patients to care for themselves.
We have invested in a number of local projects that closely link with the key objectives set out in the
Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing Strategy. These projects look to address some of the issues that
affect people’s quality of life and impact on their overall health and wellbeing, aiming to reduce health
inequalities that affect people in our area.
Examples of these projects follow.
2.5.1 Health Inequalities and social prescribing
Wwe have been working with HertsHelp and the Community Navigator service since 2014 to ensure
improved outcomes using social prescribing.
The Hospital and Community Navigator service currently deals with about 4,500 referrals per year in
west Hertfordshire. The service takes all types of adult clients and supports them to look after
themselves more effectively through addressing poverty, poor housing, lifestyle, and other issues.
GPs can refer patients to this service for support if the help they need is not medical. A brief video by
Hertfordshire and West Essex STP shows how holistic social prescribing can reduce demand on the NHS
by understanding a patient’s health in the round: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=6MDsnp0J4fc
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This video is a further explanation of how the service works to reduce loneliness. It features a case of a
lonely, bereaved former carer who needs help to lose weight. Their life was transformed by help to reengage with community. This includes ultimately preventing the need for a knee operation:
https://vimeo.com/273667457.
GPs and other referring agencies confirm the positive impact of social prescribing, as do patients and
case studies. Hertfordshire and West Essex STP’s good practice has been cited alongside the national
plan: https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/case-studies/social-prescribing/.
Carers and health inequalities: In November 2018, Herts Valleys led the STP to success in the Health
Service Journal award for System Led Support for Carers. This was as a result of our work on
identifying carers in primary care through carers’ champions and the work of the Carers in Herts ‘Make
A Difference’ project. This project showed the ability to significantly reduce the risk of depression in
carers through non-clinical interventions.
The NHS England Long Term Plan acknowledges the vulnerability of carers’ health and the Primary Care
survey shows that young adult carers are more likely to have a long term condition than their noncaring peers. Joint strategic work in Hertfordshire focusing on carer wellbeing is looking to measure
and reduce carer stress in an integrated way.
Meadowell Surgery: In 2018, the CCG incorporated the services provided by the Meadowell surgery
with Upton Road Surgery in Watford in order to continue the provision of general medical services to
vulnerable patients. These include the homeless and patients with substance misuse. This service is
currently being reviewed to provide a further enhancement to services for patients who are alcohol
dependent.
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2.5.2. Learning disabilities
Generally people with a learning disability die younger than the general population and experience
health inequalities in the care they receive. In Hertfordshire over 50% of all deaths are as a result of
pneumonia, aspiration pneumonia, or sepsis. These conditions are often treatable and so. in some
cases, death may have been preventable.
The national LeDeR programme (learning disability review of mortality) looks at every death of a
person with a learning disability aged 4 years old or over. Locally the programme has made significant
progress. In Hertfordshire, we have been able to look at a number of recommendations and learnings
from reviews, then consider and implement changes in services.
One example of this is the flu campaign and the introduction of a winter pressures project specifically
for people with a learning disability. It is hoped that by the end of 2018-19 we will be able to see an
increase in take up of the flu vaccination and consequently a reduction in the number of people who
have died from complications of flu, such as pneumonia. Another example is access to training in GP
practices, hospitals and other care providers so that staff know how to support a person with a learning
disability and make the appropriate reasonable adjustments. Finally, working closely with our specialist
LD services at Hertfordshire Partnership Foundation NHS Trust, the national STOMP programme, ‘Stop
over medicating people’ with a learning disability is working locally with a number of people to reduce
medication where levels maybe unnecessarily high or even not required. This programme is extremely
specialist; can only be delivered by health professionals as reducing medication must happen slowly
and needs to take place with regular monitoring. However, through STOMP we have seen a number of
success stories resulting in the improvement of individuals’ physical health, quality of life, and general
well-being.
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2.5.3. Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)
In Hertfordshire, our vision and overall aim is that children, young people, their families, and
professionals can access timely and responsive emotional and or mental health information, advice and
support through a single multi-agency gateway. This gateway will lead to effective triage based on
needs rather than presenting issues or diagnosis. This single front door will also provide access to a
continuum of emotional and mental health provision accessed by a single trusted referral.
Hertfordshire’s Transformation Plan aims to increase access for children and young people to early
intervention and prevention provision across the five years of the programme to 2020-21. It also
focuses on delivering a seven per cent year on year increase of children and young people with a
diagnosable mental health condition receiving treatment.
Across the five years of the CAMHS Transformation, we aim to implement sustainable system wide
change. The current system has lent itself to reactive crisis management and, through the process of
transformation, we will be delivering an offer that allows us to intervene at the earliest possible
opportunity.
The major areas of additional investment under CAMHS transformation have been:
•

An expansion of the dedicated eating disorders team for children and young people.

•

Improving access to CAMHS services by increasing capacity.

•

Working with schools to improve their knowledge and expertise, as well as improving links to
specialist CAMHS services.

•

Improving support for children and young people experiencing a mental health crisis.

•

Developing a local specialist community perinatal mental health service for mothers during
pregnancy and in the first year after birth. This will see around 730 mothers a year.

•

Reducing waiting times for autism diagnosis.
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Hertfordshire is committed to ensuring that the emotional and mental wellbeing of our children and
young people is both a priority and a responsibility for all partners. Over the past 12 months, there has
been continued investment in, and work towards, increasing access to evidence based mental health
interventions in a timely way to help children and young people at the earliest opportunity, develop
support for parents and carers, improve support for children and young people experiencing crisis or
trauma, and engaging in sexually harmful behaviours. Our perinatal mental health service has been
shortlisted for an award two years in a row (please see performance analysis section) and our eating
disorder service has received an award and a number of commendations. Both services continue to
receive excellent patient feedback.

2.6 Health and wellbeing strategy
2.6.1 Hertfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board
We are a member of Hertfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board. This brings together the NHS, public
health, adult social care and children’s services, including elected representatives and Healthwatch
Hertfordshire, to plan how best to meet the needs of Hertfordshire’s population and tackle local
inequalities in health.
The Board signed off its refreshed joint Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing Strategy at its public
meeting on 14 June 2016 and the strategy will be refreshed in 2020 in consultation with stakeholders.
View the strategy here.
The Health and Wellbeing Board has agreed the following principles:
•

Aim to keep people safe and reduce inequalities in health, attainment and wellbeing outcomes

•

Use public health evidence, other comparison information, and Hertfordshire citizens’ views to
make sure that we focus on the most significant health and wellbeing needs in Hertfordshire.
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•

Centre our strategies on people, their families and carers, providing services universally but giving
priority to the most vulnerable.

•

Focus on preventative approaches – helping people and communities to support each other and
prevent problems from occurring for individuals and families in the future.

•

Always consider what we can do better together – focusing our efforts on adding value as partners
to maximise the benefits for the public.

•

Encourage opportunities to integrate our services to improve outcomes and value for taxpayers.

In accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 2012, a number of important matters included in this
annual report have been presented and discussed as agenda items at Health and Wellbeing Board
meetings throughout the year.
As well as oversight of the Better Care Fund (BCF) Plan and receiving regular updates on the
Hertfordshire and WWest Essex Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP), the HWB signed
off or considered a number of strategic plans over the last 12 months, including:
•

The evaluation of street triage

•

Peer challenge on prevention and public health

•

CQC themed review of children and young people’s mental health services

•

Hertfordshire pharmaceutical needs assessment

•

Updates on housing and Hertfordshire home improvement agency (HIA)

•

Hertfordshire community first strategy

•

Local health resilience partnership

•

Developing a population health management approach for Hertfordshire

•

HWB Strategy update: Starting Well and Developing Well – support for children and young people’s
mental health and emotional wellbeing

•

Presentation from Hertfordshire all age autism board
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We had particular input into the agenda items focussing on the HWB Strategy themes of Starting Well
and Developing Well.
In 2018 Dr Nicolas Small, Vice-Chair of the HWB and board member, Kathryn Magson, have contributed
to the development and implementation of a transformation programme for the Board itself, known as
“The HWB Change Plan”. The Board has held a series of non-public development sessions to review its
progress, agree an action plan to improve joint governance arrangements and agree a refreshed
strategic focus and forward plan for 2019.
At a local level our Your Care, Your Future strategy fully embraces Hertfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing
Board’s vision ‘with all partners working together we aim to reduce health inequalities and improve the
health and wellbeing of people in Hertfordshire’.
Your Care, Your Future has contributes to each of the above principles and will continue to do so as the
Health and Wellbeing Board’s strategy is delivered across four life themes:
•

Starting well

•

Developing well

•

Living well and

•

Working well and ageing well

Each of the strategy's four life stages has goals with performance and outcome measures attached. The
board receives updates on progress against the outcome measures. The Health and Wellbeing Strategy
and performance dashboards, which are reviewed quarterly, can be seen here.
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The refreshed priorities for 2016/2020 are as follows:
Starting Well

Developing Well

Living Well,

Ageing Well

Working Well
Narrowing the gap

Improved mental health

Increasing activity

across localities

and wellbeing in children

levels

Reducing falls

(CAHMS)
Perinatal mental

Narrowing the gap in

health

terms of outcomes across

Reducing obesity levels

Reducing preventable
winter deaths

localities
School readiness

Identifying the

Reducing preventable

Improving activity and

‘vulnerable children and

disability

reducing frailty levels in

families’

older people

Identifying the

Improving looked after

Improving mental

‘vulnerable children

children outcomes

health prevention and

and families’

Reducing social isolation

resilience

2.7 Performance in Primary care
2.7.1 Commissioning of primary medical services
The CCG continues to effectively discharge the statutory functions for the commissioning of primary
medical services on behalf of NHS England and provide assurances through robust governance
arrangements and reporting.
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We continue to work with our member practices to maintain and improve performance and quality of
general practice. The results of the latest patient survey positions Herts Valleys CCG third out of the 14
CCGs across Central Midlands for patient access and experience.
In 2018-19, our main focus has been the delivery of the GP Forward View (GPFV), as well as supporting
general practice to ensure sustainability and resilience.

2.7.2 Improved access to general practice
A key priority in the GPFV is the provision of extended access to GP appointments on evenings and
weekends. There are seven national core requirements extended access must comply with:
1. Timing of appointments – weekday evenings, weekends and bank holidays
2. Capacity – a minimum additional 30 minutess consultation capacity per 1000 population per week
3. Measurement – implement usage of a national appointment utilisation tool
4. Advertising and ease of access – ensure services are advertised on all practice websites, urgent care
locations and publicity into the community; ensuring patients are offered an extended access
appointment on an equal footing to core hours appointments
5. Digital – innovative use of technology to support access and new models of care
6. Effective access to wider whole system services – integration with other providers of urgent care
services and NHS 111
The CCG successfully achieved the national target of 100% coverage across the CCG by October 2018
and to date an additional 27,744 appointments have been attended.
The CCG is continuing to work with providers to develop the extended access model further to include
access to other health care professionals other than GPs.

Page 57

2.7.3 General practice resilience
The CCG continues to support general practice through our resilience programme to assess
applications for discretionary funding. This funding provides short term support to practices to ensure
their longer term sustainability.
Applications are reviewed individually by a resilience review panel and any funding approved is
proportionate to the identified need and is in the best interests of the patients, the provider, and the
CCG.

2.7.4 Primary Care workforce and education
The CCG collates primary care workforce data quarterly to assist in longer term planning and also to
support the education and training for practice staff. The workforce development team across the STP
is focussed on recruitment and retention and are delivering a number of initiatives to support this.
These initiatives include:

•

GP career plus programme

We are looking at a GP career plus scheme to see how GPs coming to the end of their careers can be
retained. A task and finish group has been set and a survey distributed to GPs fall into this category in
order to establish what offerings within a GP Career Plus scheme might be attractive to them. Each
CCG in the STP also organised local meetings with GPs to provide them with an opportunity to
influence and provide ideas to help shape the future workforce retention initiatives.
•

GP International Recruitment

The International GP Recruitment IIGPR) programme is being delivered in phases to ensure consistent
processes are in place to recruit, relocate, and support these doctors to the highest standards
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throughout the programme. The scheme currently recruits from Europe and is looking to expand this
to Australia.
The most successful pilot based in Lincolnshire has proved to be particularly successful. It has recruited
over 20 IGPs. It has been decided to scale up this pilot to the other four STPs in Central Midlands,
including Hertfordshire and West Essex.
The current position is that Hertfordshire and West Essex STP awaits a start date. External publicity
material has been developed and is ready to go out to Practices when a start date is announced.

•

Hertfordshire and West Essex STP local GP Fellowship Programme

The local GP fellowship scheme is intended to increase the number of GPs in the Hertfordshire and
West Essex STP area. This programme will run over 12 months. The programme advert was published
on the NHS Jobs website in January 2019 and was circulated as widely as possible. Interviews took
place on 8 and 29 March 2019.
Seven GP Fellows have been offered a place on the GP Fellowship programme. The next stage of the
process is to match the candidates to Practices and establish their specialist interests and education
pathway.

•

Physician associate placements

During 2018-19, there were 27 Physician Associates (PA) year one students on the Hertfordshire
Universities programme. 19 students are due to graduate in September 2019.

During 2018-19, Herts Valleys CCG GP practices had a total of ten students on placements and the
University are keen to gain more interest from practices to provide more placements.
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The CCG has also recruited two primary care nurse tutors to actively support practice nurse staff as
individuals and as a group in practice nurse forums across the localities. The nurse tutors are working
towards the 10 actions in the general practice 10 point plan.
In addition to the above initiatives, the CCG has funded a programme of training for practice clinical
staff, receptionists and practice managers to release time and support resilience and sustainability. This
training programme will continue into 2019-20.

2.7.5 Local commissioning of Primary Care services
In 2018-19, a new GP Enhanced Commissioning Framework (GPECF) was launched with the aim of
reducing administration and bureaucracy within general practice and to ensure equity of access across
locally commissioned primary care services.

2.7.4 Primary Care estates
During 2018-19, there have been a number of practice mergers across three of our four localities:
•

Milton House and Boxwell Road Surgeries merged to form Berkhamsted Group Practice. Both
practice sites have been retained.

•

The Health Centre, Redbourn merged with The Lodge & Highfield Surgeries, St Albans and
Harpenden. The Redbourn site has been retained as a branch surgery.

•

Upton Road merged with the Meadowell service formerly provided by Health Inclusion Matters and
the service is delivered from the Upton Road Surgery in Watford.

•

Coach House and Park End Surgery formally merged however, there are no changes to the estate
infrastructure as they are co-located within the same building in Central Watford.

•

Manor View and Callowland Surgeries merged and the Callowland site has been retained to use as
the branch surgery.
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In addition to these practice mergers, the CCG Board also approved the closure of West Herts Medical
Centre (WHMC). The 2,200 registered patients were supported in transitioning to other GP surgeries.
The site at Hemel Hempstead hospital has been retained to provide an in-hours extended access hub
to support patients.
During 2018-19, the following projects have been completed or are in development to enhance current
general practice premises:
•

Chorleywood Medical Centre – improvement works completed.

•

Elms Watford – relocation to an adjacent building resulting in more capacity and better quality
premises.

•

Other Estates Technology and Transformation Fund projects are still being progressed with
Markyate and Carpenders Park construction due to start this year.

•

The CCG is working with three Borehamwood practices and other stakeholders on the proposed
Borehamwood Health Hub and have commissioned an outline business case.

2.7.5 Medicines optimisation
Care homes
We have continued to build on work to improve the health and welfare of patients in care homes and
to reduce unnecessary spend by taking a whole STP approach to managing medicines in Care Homes.
All three CCGs used National Pharmacy Integration Fund money to appoint additional care home
medicines management staff. The aim of these roles is to raise standards of medicines usage in care
homes, ensuring residents are involved in personalised reviews of their medicines, which are then
discussed with the wider nursing and medical teams. In Herts Valleys CCG, we have created some new
technician roles, which have been proven in the Vanguard model to be effective. They work with
selected care homes improving their processes on medicines use and reducing waste.
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‘Open the bag’ reduce medicines waste campaign
We have encouraged various schemes to reduce waste, including the ‘open-the-bag’ scheme, which
encourages patients to review and return medicines to the pharmacist if they are not needed, at the
time of collection. Returned medicines which have not left a pharmacy shop can be reused whereas
medicines which have left the shop cannot. This initiative aims to reduce waste of medicines across the
STP. It has been supported by the communications teams of all three CCGs, and there have been pieces
in the local BBC news and radio to encourage patients to engage with this idea. We will be monitoring
the project in various ways including in running data on items “not dispensed” by the pharmacist. This
is a simple idea, but the engagement of the public with it is the key to its success.

Dietetic and nutrition service
We have recommissioned our dietetic services this year. We continue to recommend a food-first
approach to malnutrition. Our new consultant dietitian works collaboratively with existing dietetic
services, specialists and GPs, educating and encouraging staff to use food as the main way of
encouraging those with weight loss to gain weight, without resorting to the use of prescribed drinks
and supplements. This approach improves the quality of life of frail elderly and end-of-life patients,
without medicalising weight loss.
Our consultant dietitian has revised and shortened our guidelines around oral nutritional supplements
and is working to ensure that they are being used across Hertfordshire. The aim, moving forwards, is to
ensure that there is a consistency of approach across all services, in all settings, which recommends
food-first. Through national benchmarking work, our model of care has sparked interest from other
CCGs because of the significant benefits and saving achieved.
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Community respiratory service
We were delighted to be nominated as a finalist at the Health Service Journal awards (Medicines
Optimisation category) for a collaborative piece of work with the community respiratory service
around management of oxygen to improve patient care. This project identifies and mitigates risks,
reviews patients regularly and ensures that patients feel supported in their own home to use their
oxygen safely. It also saves money through stopping oxygen in selected patients who do not need it,
and through smart management of empty cylinders, which are charged at the same rate per day as full
ones. Patient and clinician feedback has been extremely positive. This project is a good example of
doing the right thing in a smart way to release savings.

Joint formulary with West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust
We are in process of developing and updating our joint formulary with West Hertfordshire Hospitals
NHS Trust to enable clinical staff to search for information on medicines more easily. We are updating
the formulary chapter by chapter and have fully completed four chapters. When finished (completion
expected in 2019) this will be the first integrated formulary in our STP.
http://www.westhertsformulary.nhs.uk/

Use of short-acting beta agonist (SABA) inhalers
In west Hertfordshire in 2018 we have incentivised GP practices to review patients with asthma who
regularly and excessively over-use their short-acting beta agonist (SABA) inhalers. This is usually a small
number of patients per practice, but for each patient this is a marker of poor asthma control. Excessive
overuse of SABAs (using 12+ SABA inhalers over the last 12 months) has been linked nationally with
sudden unexpected death. By encouraging more time to be spent on reviewing these high risk patients,
and improving the control of their asthma, we expect to save lives.
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2.8 Delivering on change in west Hertfordshire
2.8.1 Delivering patient-focused services
We have made continued progress with a roll-out of new community-based services that reflect our
Your Care, Your Future ambitions to provide coordinated care closer to home. Providers including NHS
Trusts, Herts One (representing GP Federations), and Hertfordshire County Council have signed up to
work together to redesign and deliver a number of services. Patients and carers have been involved in
developing these remodelled services: sharing their experience of current services and giving us their
views on what they would like to see change through ways of delivering care. Patients are also involved
in evaluating bids for new services and feeding back on improvement proposals from existing
providers. Some patients involved in evaluating bids have explained how their contributions made a
difference and their comments can be found below in the details about each new patient-focused
service.
Remodelling our services represents significant change and transformation for GPs, providers and
patients and we expect these changes to take time to become established.
On-going engagement with patient and service users includes a regular planned and primary care
network meeting. This is open to any patients and service users and provides regular updates on adult
services and as well as inviting patients’ queries and feedback.
We have been encouraging GPs to refer patients into the new community-based services.
Here we outline just a few examples of these new- style services.
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Community gynaecology service
The enhanced community-based gynaecology service supports patients aged 16 years upwards. The
service is provided for the CCG by the Community Gynaecology Partnership, which includes teams of
specialist GPs and consultant gynaecologists linked to a number of different hospitals.
Patients are referred into the community gynaecology service by their GP. From there the service aims
to ensure that patients are seen by the right person in the right place first time for their particular
gynaecological issue.
The service has clinics in all four of the west Hertfordshire localities. Patients will have appointments
and receive some care and treatments in these clinics instead of having to go to hospital. If a patient
needs more specialist treatment, including surgery, the service will discuss with the patient which
hospital they would like to go to.

Community Integrated Musculoskeletal (MSK), Rheumatology, Pain and Postural Stability Service
The integrated community musculoskeletal service for west Hertfordshire offers a wide range of
community treatments for all MSK conditions including physiotherapy, orthopaedics, rheumatology,
and pain.
Connect Health were awarded a 3 year contract to provide the MSK service. In order to facilitate this,
part of the service model is to have locations for treatment available across west Hertfordshire. With
the exception of Hertsmere, all areas have a central hub base.
Connect Health have continued to work closely with Herts Valley CCG and West Herts Hospital NHS
Trust to ensure that robust post-operative pathways are in place so that patients are seen within the
appropriate timescales, in addition this has now been rolled out at with Royal Free London.
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Further information can be found regarding Connects service provision within West Hertfordshire,
please see below link:
https://hertsvalleys.connecthealth.co.uk/
Patient Information Leaflets are available at:
https://hertsvalleys.connecthealth.co.uk/patient-resources/

Integrated diabetes service
The Herts Valleys Integrated Diabetes Service (HIDS) has been in place since April 2018. This innovative
new service provides the majority of diabetic patients with the treatment they need in their local
community rather than in hospital and ensures their care is better coordinated.
West Hertfordshire Hospital NHS Trust (WHHT) is the lead provider for this integrated service working
in partnership with Hertfordshire Community Trust (HCT), Hertfordshire Partnership Foundation Trust
(HPFT), and Herts One GP Federation.
This new consultant led Diabetes service provides high quality Specialist Diabetes care in the
community. The service offers Specialist Diabetes Multidisciplinary clinics in each locality and also aims
to support GP practices in providing enhanced Diabetes care to their patients in their practices.
The new service aims to support both the patient with diabetes and GPs to help deliver care.

Transforming adult community health services
A contract for a new integrated community health service for adults across west Hertfordshire has
been awarded to Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust (CLCH). We are now mobilising the
new service to start from 1 October 2019.
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The integrated service will create fully joined-up services in line with national expectations set out in
NHS England’s Long Term Plan and our Your Care, Your Future strategy. Services such community
nursing and therapy, rehabilitation and end of life care will work more closely with GP services, mental
health, social care and voluntary services to provide more coordinated patient care. The new service
will work at a neighbourhood level and will tie into local networks including primary care networks that
are currently being established.
The new model will deliver other benefits for patients that have been in our plans for some time. This
includes
•

a greater focus on advice and support so that patients can look after themselves and stay healthy
and on early support to avoid people’s health deteriorating to a point they need hospital or
residential care.

•

greater use of technology to enhance services and support

•

targeting resources to tackle health inequalities.

There will be increased investment in existing and new services (such as leg ulcers and phlebotomy) in
line with our Your Care, Your Future ambitions to strengthen community provision.
We engaged with people who use and provide services including patients, GPs, county council services,
and the voluntary sector to develop the specification for the integrated service and as part of the
extensive procurement process. Patient representatives were involved in the evaluation and scoring of
submissions by providers.
CLCH is an established community services provider that serves two million patients across ten London
Boroughs and Hertfordshire (where they provide integrated community respiratory care and sexual
health services). During the procurement they demonstrated a strong track record in delivering
transformation and showed they could meet our needs.
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"As patient representative to the Herts Valley’s board, I took a full part in the recent procurement
process for Adult Care Community Health Services. That involved (often) weekly meetings of the
planning group, reading the bidders' submissions, asking for clarification and explanation, and
questioning their representatives.”" John Wigley, patient representative at the board.
“I was very pleased to be involved with the Adult Community Services procurement. The patient
representatives’ views were valued and did appreciably affect the outcome of some discussions; this
was particularly true when talking about location of services (how accessible they would be) and
interoperability of different systems. It was vital that we were part of the process to make sure that the
patient and their experience were not lost in the discussion.” Madeleine Donohue, patient
representative.
The launch of the new service on 1 October is the first stage of a longer journey to transform services
over the seven years of the contract. We will involve staff, patients, and other providers in mobilising
the new service and introducing the new approach.
Patients will continue to be looked after by the same highly skilled and caring staff who work for the
current provider, Hertfordshire Community Trust (HCT), as their roles will transfer to CLCH. We are
working with CLCH and HCT to ensure a seamless handover to the new integrated service that
maintains patient safety and continuity of care.
Hertfordshire Community Trust (HCT) will continue to deliver a wide range of services in the county,
including in this area. This includes children’s community health services and integrated services for
diabetes and for nutrition and dietetics.

Nutrition and Dietetics
The new Herts Valleys Integrated Nutrition and Dietetic Service for children and adults went live in
November 2018. Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT) is the lead provider and the service is
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provided in partnership with the NHS and the voluntary sector. The focus is on supporting patients of
all ages in achieving and maintaining good nutrition and having the required support to manage their
dietary needs.
HCT will work with four organisations to deliver the new service. Each will focus on specific aspects of
care and support.
The new service will help to provide better support to a wider range of patients who have difficulty
with eating or maintaining a good diet as well as carers and healthcare services including local GPs and
care homes and hospices. This will be achieved by providing specific clinical services and through social
support, education and training so that patients feel more able to manage their diet and nutrition
themselves.

Ear, Nose and Throat (ENT) service
A new service launched on 4 February 2019 for patients in west Hertfordshire with ear, nose and throat
(ENT) problems and aims to make sure that more people receive expert diagnosis, treatment and
support close to where they live rather than having to travel to hospital for their appointments.
The Community ENT service is provided by Communitas Clinics Limited under a three year contract.
The service is led by ENT consultants and will be delivered by a team of trained and accredited medical
professionals from Communitas.
Communitas are working closely with local GPs to deliver the new service.

Ophthalmology
A new community based Ophthalmology service called Community Health & Eyecare Limited (CHEC)
launched in January 2019. Community Health & Eyecare Limited will operate a referral management
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centre, delivered by a consultant-led team. All referrals received will be triaged and actioned
appropriately by booking patients into community clinics or forwarding them onward to the patient
choice of Hospital Eye Services where appropriate or returned back to the referrer with a management
plan. Clinics will be delivered from a GP practice or accredited optometrists in each locality.
The service will also accept direct referrals from local optometrists, provide advice and guidance to
queries from GP’s and Optometrists, and provide clinical assessment and treatment to patients using
suitable staff such as diagnostic technicians, optometrists, and ophthalmology consultants.

Dermatology pilot
HealthHarmonie has been awarded an 18 month contract to deliver a pilot primary care led community
dermatology service for all ages following a procurement process. The pilot service, which started in
February 2019, is available for patients registered with a Herts Valleys GP in the Dacorum and Watford
and Three Rivers localities.
The pilot will test out a model to improve the patient experience and produce better value
dermatology healthcare for the population in the pilot areas. HealthHarmonie has extensive
experience of delivering community dermatology service in other areas with a one-stop-shop
dermatology model.
During early 2020, a formal procurement process will be launched to deliver a full community
dermatology service across all four localities based on learning from the pilot model.
“It’s been my pleasure over the last twelve months to support Herts Valleys to create a shared destiny,
working with healthcare professionals. It has been my role to try and focus service re-designs on the
patients’ experience of the new service, making that a priority. I have tried to ensure patient experience
is enhanced to the maximum extent possible.” Alan Bellinger, patient representative during the
redesign of dermatology services.
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GP Direct Access Ultrasound Service
The procurement process for this service was completed in December 2018, to commence at the
beginning of April 2019. People needing an ultrasound will now access the new service at a local GP
surgery rather than in hospital. It is hoped that this will halve waiting times for patients needing an
ultrasound and also be more convenient for patients as they will no longer need to travel to hospital..
The service will be provided by Physiological Measurements Ltd, who already run NHS ultrasound
services in a number of areas across the country.

Frailty and falls prevention
The STP launched three frailty pathways, which are in the process of being implemented across the STP
footprint. The pathways include the identification of a person living with frailty, the proactive care in
the community of person living with frailty and the emergency/urgent care of a person living with
frailty in a crisis.
Please see our website for further information:
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/clinicians/frailty-and-falls
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2.8.3 Developing plans for future hospital provision
The future shape of hospital services is a key part of our Your Care, Your Future vision for a healthier
west Hertfordshire. We need to ensure our hospitals are fit for the future to support changes in our
population and their health needs, healthcare advances and new models of care.
In late summer 2018, NHS Improvement (NHSI) gave initial feedback on the strategic outline case for
acute hospital redevelopment in west Hertfordshire. They said that while this made a clear case for
investment in local hospital facilities, proposals needed to be revised to reflect increasing financial
restrictions.
West Herts Hospital Trust and the CCG have used the review as an opportunity to reexamine a range of
options for the configuration and location of future hospital services. Options for services provided at
Hemel Hempstead Hospital are also being considered to ensure a holistic solution for patients across
west Hertfordshire. As well as options involving existing hospital sites, the feasibility of a new planned
care hospital is also being considered, reflecting continuing calls from some patients for new hospital
facilities on a new site.
NHSI has stated that proposals must not exceed the hospital’s trust annual turnover of approximately
£350million. This spending limit rules out the option of moving emergency and critical care services
from Watford due to the high costs of moving many other interdependent services.
All remaining options focus on retaining emergency and critical care at Watford General with four
other options for planned care based around development of the existing Hemel Hempstead and/or St
Albans City Hospital sites or replacing both with a new planned care hospital.
The CCG and West Herts Hospitals Trust have been engaging widely with patients, clinical staff, MPs
and other stakeholders as part of the refresh. We have committed to openness and transparency so
that the thinking and process to arrive at a preferred option is clear for everyone to see.
There have been a series of public meetings. During October and November 2018, locality meetings
explained the refresh and invited questions. A further meeting in January 2019 provided further

Page 72

information on the evaluation of options and the most recent meeting in March 2019 presented the
shortlist of options and invited comments. Meetings have been well attended and we have shared
presentations and notes from the meetings online.
Engagement with clinicians, independent experts and NHS managers on how the various options could
work from a clinical and operational perspective also fed into the development of options.
Options have been evaluated by a multi-stakeholder panel comprising patient and public
representatives, health and care professionals, local authority partners and voluntary sector and
Healthwatch representatives. The panel met in February and March to examine options from various
aspects including service quality, patient experience, accessibility, deliverability, and how they
complement other parts of the health and care system locally.
People from across west Hertfordshire were invited to put themselves forward for the roles of patient
and public representatives. Seven public representatives were selected to provide fair representation
across all four localities.
Shortlisted options are also undergoing financial and technical analysis. This and scoring of options by
the panel is will help to arrive at a recommended preferred option that will be considered by the Trust
and CCG boards in June and a decision made in public.
This proposal will then be considered by the government as part of the Comprehensive Spending
Review in autumn 2019.
There is further information about the engagement on hospital plans on the CCG website
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/future-plans/your-care-your-future/developing-hospital-services
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT

Signed:

Kathryn Magson
Accountable Officer
Dated:

23rd May 2019
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The purpose of the accountability section of the annual report is to meet key accountability
requirements to Parliament.
The Accountability Report addresses the three key elements of:
(i)

Corporate Governance Report

(ii)

Remuneration and Staff Report

(iii)

Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report

Under each section, the Accountability Report details how the CCG meets the entity’s responsibility to
ensure that it provides full accountability through the adoption of best practices in line with corporate
governance norms and codes.
Auditors have reviewed the Accountability Report for consistency with other information in the
financial statements and have provided an opinion on the following disclosures, which must clearly be
identified as audited within the Accountability Report:
•

disclosures on Parliamentary accountability, as detailed in paragraph 3.61 of the Department of
Health and Social Care (DHSC) group accounting manual

•

single total figure of remuneration for each director

•

Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) disclosures for each director

•

payments to past directors, if relevant

•

payments for loss of office, if relevant

•

“fair pay” (pay multiples) disclosures

•

exit packages, if relevant, and

•

analysis of staff numbers and costs.
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Corporate Governance Report
The purpose of the corporate governance report is to explain the composition and
organisation of the entity’s governance structures, and how they support the achievement
of the entity’s objectives.
As a minimum, the Corporate Governance Report must include:
(i)

the directors’ report (members’ report for CCGs)

(ii)

the statement of Accounting/Accountable Officer's responsibilities

(iii)

the governance statement

Members Report
Dr Nicolas Small was the Chair of the CCG and Kathryn Magson was the Accountable Officer
throughout the financial year and up to the signing of the annual report and accounts.
There are sixteen members of the CCG board 1.

Member practices
The CCG has seen a number of mergers in 2018/19 and therefore our membership now
consists of 59 GP practices.
The member practices are arranged into the four localities of Dacorum, Hertsmere, St
Albans and Harpenden, and Watford and Three Rivers. Each of these localities has a Locality
Clinical Chair who leads the Locality Committee, which is made up of representatives from

1

Position of Secondary Care consultant has been vacant since 1 January 2019.
The following directors are not board members: Directors of Workforce, Primary Care, and Commissioning.
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member practices. The Locality Clinical Chair is also a member of the CCG Board and they
each have a portfolio in which they are responsible for.
Our Member practices are:
Dacorum practices (18)
• Archway Surgery
• Bennetts End Surgery
• Berkhamsted Group (formerly Boxwell
Road and Milton House Surgeries)
• Coleridge House Medical Centre
• Everest House Surgery
• Fernville Surgery
• Gossoms End Surgery
• Grovehill Medical Centre
• Haverfield Surgery
• Highfield Surgery
• The Nap Surgery 2
• Lincoln House Surgery
• Manor Street Surgery
• New Surgery
• Parkwood Surgery
• Rothschild House Surgery
• West Herts Medical Centre 3
• Woodhall Farm Medical Centre
St Albans and Harpenden practices (12)
• Davenport House Surgery
• Hatfield Road Surgery
• Elms Medical Practice
• Grange Street Surgery
• Harvey Group Practice
• Lattimore Surgery
• Lodge Surgery (merged with Health
Centre, Redbourn)
• Maltings Surgery
• Midway Surgery
• Parkbury House
• Verulam Medical Group
• Village Surgery

Hertsmere practices (9)
• Annandale Surgery
• Fairbrook Medical Centre
• Grove Medical Centre
• Highview Medical Centre
• Little Bushey Surgery
• Parkfield Medical Centre
• Red House Group
• Schopwick Surgery
• Theobald Medical Centre

Watford and Three Rivers practices (20)
• Abbotswood Medical Centre
• Attenborough Surgery
• Baldwins Lane Surgery
• Bridgewater Surgeries (formerly
Coach House and Park End surgeries)
• Cassio Surgery
• Chorleywood Health Centre
• Colne House Surgery
• Consulting Rooms
• Elms Surgery
• Gade Surgery
• Garston Medical Centre
• Manor View Practice (merged with
Callowland Surgery)

2

The Nap Surgery is listed as “Kings Langley and Bovingdon Surgeries” as they have two sites. The Nap is the
main surgery site and the Bovingdon site (Longmeadow Surgery) is their branch site.
3
West Herts Medical Centre practice closed on 1 October 2018 so is no longer an active GP Surgery.
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

New Road Surgery
Pathfinder Practice
Sheepcot Medical Centre
South Oxhey Surgery
Suthergrey House Medical Centre
Tudor Surgery
Upton Road Surgery (merged with
Meadowell Surgery)
Vine House Health Centre

Composition of the Board (including roles)
There are sixteen members of the CCG board:
•

Two general practitioners from each of the four locality areas, one of whom is the Chair
of the CCG and one of whom is the deputy clinical chair.

•

Four lay members, one of whom is the appointed deputy chair of the CCG. Among these
members, one has responsibility for governance matters, one for public and patient
involvement, and one for primary care (medical services) commissioning.

•

A secondary care specialist doctor 4

•

Three Executive members: the Chief Executive Officer (Accountable Officer), the Chief
Finance Officer and the Director of Nursing and Quality, who is also the Deputy Chief
Executive Officer.

•

Also in regular attendance at board meetings, in an advisory capacity, were the Director
of Primary Care, Director of Commissioning, Head of Corporate Governance, Associate
Director of Communications and Engagement, Director of Workforce and ODL, a patient

4

T Win, Secondary Care Specialist Doctor resigned effective 31 December 2018. Recruitment is underway to fill
this post
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representative, a representative of Healthwatch Hertfordshire and a representative
from Hertfordshire County Council.

Board meeting in public attendances 2018/19
Details of attendance at Board meetings can be found here:
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/about-us/who-we-are/leadership

Registers of interests
All registers of interest can be found on our website.

Committee(s), including Audit Committee
The highest level governance structure comprises a governing body (known as “the board”)
supported by board committees, three of which are required by statute:
•

Audit

•

Remuneration

•

Primary Care Commissioning

All committees of the board make regular reports to the board, to include:
•

Key assurances received

•

Decisions taken

•

Areas of escalation to the board

Committee structures can be found in the integrated governance protocol.
Please see Integrated Governance Protocol for details of the membership of the Audit,
Remuneration, and Primary Care (Medical Services) Commissioning Committees.
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Membership and effectiveness of the board committees can be found under “Governance
arrangements and effectiveness” below.
Additionally, there is an executive management team, which meets fortnightly to oversee
the operational aspects of the CCG business, and a financial sustainability meeting, which
also meets fortnightly to monitor the implementation and delivery of the CCG’s
transformation programme.

Personal data related incidents –
There were 19 reported data security incidents during 2018-19, of which one was reportable
to the Information Commissioners Office. The CCG reports via the NHS Digital Data Security
and Protection Incident Reporting tool where guidance material is available to support
organisations to assess whether the incident should be reported.

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG (Board) at the time the Members’ Report is
approved confirms:
•

so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which
the CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their
audit report

•

the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to
make him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the CCG’s auditor is aware of it.
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Modern Slavery Act
Herts Valleys CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery
and human trafficking. Our Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement for the financial year
ending 31 March 2019 is published on our website at https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/yourservices/local-services/adult-safeguarding-domestic-abuse#modern-slavery-and-humantrafficking.
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning
Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS
Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed Kathryn Magson to be the
Accountable Officer of Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include responsibilities for:
•

The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer
is answerable,

•

For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them
to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts
Direction),

•

For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities).

•

The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money,

•

Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in
accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended))
and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in
accordance with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)),

•

Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J
of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
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Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed Herts
Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a statement of
accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are
prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group and of its income and expenditure, Statement of
financial position and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to:
•

observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies
on a consistent basis;

•

make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;

•

state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government
Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any
material departures in the financial statements;

•

prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis; and

•

confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced, and
understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and
Accounts and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced
and understandable.

As the Accounting Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make
myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that Herts Valleys Clinical
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Commissioning Group’s auditors are aware of that information. So far as I am aware, there
is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware.
Signed:

Kathryn Magson
Accountable Officer
Dated: 23rd May 2019
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Governance Statement
Introduction and context
Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group is a body corporate established by NHS England
on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of
services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is, in
particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such extent as
it considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local population.
As at 1 April 2018, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any directions from
NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006 5.

Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public
Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accounting Officer
Appointment Letter.

5

These may be made if NHSE considers that a CCG is, or is at significant risk of, failing to discharge its
functions.
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I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively,
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the
effectiveness of the system of internal control within the clinical commissioning group as set
out in this governance statement.

Governance arrangements and effectiveness
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as
are relevant to it.

Our Governing Body (Board)
The CCG membership is accountable for exercising the statutory functions of the CCG, which
can be found in our constitution.
•

The CCG Governing Body shall exercise the functions of the CCG governing body as
set out in legislation, and in particular sections 14L(2) and (3) of the 2006 Act,
including: ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise
its functions effectively, efficiently and economically and in accordance with the
CCG’s principles of good governance, which include the Nolan Principles.

•

Determining the remuneration, fees, and other allowances payable to employees,
office holders or other persons providing services to the CCG.

•

Approving any functions of the CCG that are specified in regulations.
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The membership has chosen to grant authority for most functions to a governing body, our
board, to act on their behalf. This is formalised in our detailed financial policies.

Information about our Membership Body and Governing Body (board), including key
responsibilities, membership and attendance records can be found on our website.
Highlights and key decisions made by the board 2018-19 are detailed in our decision
register.
Further, in discharging functions of the CCG that have been delegated to the CCG board,
board committees or joint committees, individuals must:
•

Comply with the principles of good governance, including the Nolan Principles.

•

Operate in accordance with the CCG’s Scheme of Reservation and Delegation.

•

Comply with the CCG’s standing orders.

•

Comply with the CCG’s arrangements for discharging its statutory duties.

•

Where appropriate, ensure that member practices have had the opportunity to
contribute to the CCG’s decision-making process.

Information about our committees and sub-committees of the board, including key
responsibilities and membership can be found in our Integrated Governance Protocol.
Attendance records and highlights of committee work over the year can be found on our
website using the links below.
Audit Committee
Remuneration Committee
Primary Care (Medical Services) Commissioning Committee
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The board reviewed their performance and effectiveness during January 2019; this was then
discussed on 14 March 2019. Ten questions were asked using a number of self-assessment
tools including:
– the healthy NHS board 2013
– the CCG improvement and assessment framework
– CQC “well-led” key lines of enquiry
– Deloitte capability and capacity review
The overall rating was good, with the top three scoring areas being:
•

Openness, transparency, candour

•

Agendas reflect key risks

•

Strong risk management framework

The areas for improvement were agreed to be:
•

Communicating a compelling and credible vision

•

Composition and balance of knowledge and skills

•

Effective collaboration

These areas will be the focus for board development during 2019-20.

UK Corporate Governance Code
NHS bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance.
However, we have reported on our corporate governance arrangements by drawing upon
best practice available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code we
consider to be relevant to the clinical commissioning group.
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Evidence that the Code’s principles were applied is provided through the Integrated
Governance Protocol.

Herts Valleys CCG is committed to the highest standards of corporate governance. The
function of good governance is to “ensure that an organisation fulfils its overall purpose,
achieves its intended outcomes for citizens for service users, and operates in an effective,
efficient, and ethical manner”.
The underlying principles of all good governance are listed as follows in the UK Corporate
Governance Code:
•

Accountability

•

Transparency

•

Probity

•

Focus on sustainable success of an entity over the longer term

Discharge of Statutory Functions
In light of recommendations of the 1983 Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has
reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I
can confirm that the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative requirements
associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any
restrictions on delegation of those functions.
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Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and
capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.
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Risk management arrangements and effectiveness
During 2018/19, the CCG has sustained its continuous improvement approach to governance
and risk management. The integrated governance protocol was reviewed and updated to
clarify the systems, processes and behaviours by which HVCCG leads, directs and controls its
functions in order to achieve its strategic objectives. Having delivered governance training to
the whole organisation in 2017/18, mandatory training on governance arrangements is now
included as part of the CCG’s induction programme for new employees and members of the
board. The CCG’s system of internal control, incorporating both corporate and clinical
governance, puts in place measures to both prevent and detect potential threats and deter
any lack of compliance with effective governance.
The board assurance framework (BAF) is being used to make sure that we focus on the key
risks to delivering the CCG’s strategic objectives at every board and committee meeting
within a framework of robust governance. The procedures for submitting board and
committee papers have been further updated to provide a clear focus on risk and assurance.
Directors are required to sign off to confirm that all appropriate procedures for equality,
quality and data protection impact assessments have been completed.
The internal operational risk management function is performed by the senior leadership
team (SLT) The SLT provides a forum for peer challenge and discussion of risk and for a
collective approach to the management of organisation-wide and system risk. Strategic and
operational risks are considered in the context of each paper at the SLT monthly meetings
with any concerns escalated to the executive team. A schedule of operational risk deep dives
is considered by SLT in order that organisational-wide impacts and interdependencies can be
understood. SLT members also raise awareness within teams that understanding and
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managing risk is an everyday part of the CCG’s commissioning responsibilities by discussing
their directorate risks at team meetings. Risk is intrinsic to the provision of healthcare and
from the CCG’s perspective, the consequences of the risks inherent in commissioning
decisions must be understood before decisions are made.
As part of its plans to become further involved in its collaboration with STP partners during
2018/19, HVCCG has been cross-referencing not only CCG objectives, but also STP priorities
and work stream outputs to its BAF risks throughout 2018/19 in order to improve their
management and the sharing of good quality risk information across the local healthcare
system. A board development session held in December 2018 reviewed emerging and
evolving system risks to inform the development of a BAF for 2019/20 that reflects the
greater collaboration necessary throughout the health and care system in order to put in
place more effective plans for the mitigation of strategic risk going forward.
Public involvement in the management of the healthcare system’s strategic and significant
risks is an ongoing commitment for HVCCG. Widespread consultation has taken place with
local bodies, the public, politicians and other key stakeholders in order to secure their
involvement in plans transform the delivery of care in west Hertfordshire and by so doing,
manage the principle risks to achievement of the CCG’s strategic objectives. Consultation
on future commissioning plans; urgent care strategy including acute reconfiguration; and
the re-commissioning of adult community services have been overseen by the Associate
Director for communications and engagement. HVCCG’s Chair, Chief Executive Officer and
members of the executive team continue to meet with local members of Parliament to
discuss their plans and promote public involvement, understanding and support. The CCG
has led work to recruit patient and public representatives to panels evaluating
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procurement options. A refreshed stakeholder participation strategy was approved by the
board in November 2018. This will support greater public engagement, particularly among
disadvantaged groups. The new strategy will incorporate themes to address issues
highlighted by the national improvement and assessment framework for engagement. An
increase in the number and work of community health ambassadors has also been planned
to encourage involvement from a wider cross-section of the west Hertfordshire population.

Risks are formally identified through two routes:
The board assurance framework (BAF) process, which assesses and manages the principle
risks associated with the delivery of the CCG’s strategic objectives. Monthly reviews of BAF
risks take place with individual SLT and Executive members before being discussed at
executive team meetings monthly. The executive team agrees a BAF proposal for
discussion at committees and presentation to the board for approval. Each committee of
the board now receives a more detailed BAF report relating to the strategic risks in its sphere
of responsibility so that the committee can question and challenge the controls and actions in
place to manage risk and provide assurance to the board. Committees and the board are also
asked to identify any new risks identified during the course of a meeting. Any feedback
received from committees of the board is incorporated into both the committee Chairs’
reports and the BAF proposal to board prepared by the Executive team.
The risk register process, which is bottom-up and includes risks identified by all levels of staff
across the CCG and within its partnership. All significant risks are included on the corporate
risk register, which is reported to the board and its committees. Less significant risks are
managed as part of ‘business as usual’ activity within directorate, programme and project
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risk registers and escalated to the corporate risk register as necessary.
The CCG engages with its internal auditors and local counter fraud specialists to ensure
that it has an awareness of risks identified elsewhere and to take steps to prevent and deter
adverse incidents that might impact on it. Internal audit advice and support has also been
sought in relation to specific aspects of CCG work, including procurement processes for the
non-emergency patient transport service; and joint arrangements with the local authority
for governance of the Better Care Fund. Equally, the CCG has a strong track record in working
with health and social care system partners in west Hertfordshire and is able to share risks
and management of them where this is appropriate, including taking account of the
outcome of providers’ clinical audits.
HVCCG recognises that risk management is not about risk elimination; it is about
encouraging appropriate risk-taking, i.e. ensuring that sufficient and appropriate
information about risks encountered is available and properly analysed. Redesigning
pathways of care to secure the best possible services for our community requires a high
degree of innovation, transformation and, indeed, risk-taking. In order to succeed in this, we
recognise the need to determine our risk appetite across all areas of our organisation and to
apply this to all decisions about risk and opportunities in the pursuit of the HVCCG’s
objectives. In April 2018, the board agreed a change to HVCCG’s risk appetite, which may
now be described as ‘Seek’, using the Good Governance Institute ‘Risk Appetite for NHS
Organisations’ matrix. That is, HVCCG is “Eager to be innovative and to choose options
offering potentially higher business rewards (despite greater inherent risk)”, reflecting the
large amount of transformation underway in the Hertfordshire and West Essex health and
care system.
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Capacity to Handle Risk
The CCG executive is assigned overall responsibility for each of the four strategic objective
areas:
•

Effective engagement;

•

Quality;

•

Transforming delivery; and

•

Affordable and sustainable care.

The executive is responsible for endorsing the CCG’s system of internal control and ensuring
that there is effective management of risk.

Control mechanisms
There are different levels of risk governance in the CCG:
•

Board

•

Audit committee

•

Quality committee

•

Performance committee

•

Finance committee

•

Primary care commissioning committee

•

Public and patient involvement committee

•

Commissioning executive

•

Executive committee

•

Senior leadership team

•

Locality committees

•

Programme groups
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The board is accountable for ensuring that the CCG has an effective programme for
managing all types of risk and reviews risks to the strategic objectives of the CCG. It receives
details of all new high-level risk exposures at each formal meeting and reviews the board
assurance framework and corporate risk register. The CCG executive directors own all risks
on the board assurance framework and the corporate risk register. Monthly reviews of all
strategic and significant risks are undertaken with individual members of the senior
leadership team and the executive team. Risk reports are reviewed collectively by the
executive team before submission to the board and its committees to ensure that timely and
accurate information is shared assessing risks to compliance with the clinical
commissioning group’s statutory obligations.
In order to verify that risks are being managed appropriately and that the CCG can deliver
its objectives, the board receives and considers written reports from the audit committee,
committees of the board and the executive. Every report to board and committees include a
front sheet that requires the author to set out any strategic or significant risks that are
relevant to the subject matter and identify the appropriate level of assurance that the board
can take in relation to each risk. Since quarter 3, committees of the board have received
more detailed reports concerning the risks in their sphere of responsibility, and provide
assurance to the board about the controls in place and progress on action plans to mitigate
these risks.
Staff are trained or equipped to manage risk in a way appropriate to their authority and
duties. The integrated governance protocol sets out the ways in which reports to the board
and committees routinely focus on the management of risk and robust training in the
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appropriate governance practices to adopt is included in the CCG’s induction training. Team
workshops and individualised training are also delivered according to need.

Risk assessment
During 2018/19, the CCG identified the following significant risks to the achievement of its
strategic objectives.

Effective Engagement. We will continually improve engagements with member practices,
patients, the public, carers and our staff to contribute to and influence the work of Herts
Valleys CCG.
•

Risk that we do not engage effectively with a range of our patients, population and
stakeholders.

•

Risk that member practices, local providers, local authorities and other partners do not
respond constructively to engagement.

•

Risk that we have an unengaged staff body and wider clinical workforce.

Quality. We will commission safe, good quality services that meet the needs of the
population, reducing health inequalities and supporting local people to avoid ill health and
stay well.
•

Risk that we do not deliver on all NHS Constitutional pledges, key national targets and
priorities.

•

Risk that we are unable to ensure good quality, safe and sustainable services for the
population and patients of west Hertfordshire.

•

Risk that we are unable to maintain good quality, safe and sustainable services within the
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community during the re- procurement of community services. [This risk was closed in
January following contract award and a new mobilisation risk added under
transformation.]
•

Risk that our plans do not focus on prevention of ill health and reduction of health
inequalities. [Moved from Quality to Transformation in Q4 2018/19.]

•

Risk of lack of adequate system capability and interoperability in the management and
security of information, data and technology.

•

Risk that we are unable to commission good quality and sustainable healthcare for the
population of west Hertfordshire.

•

Risk that we do not comply with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR).

Transforming Delivery. We will work with health and social care partners to transform the
delivery of care through the implementation of “Your Care, Your Future”, the Strategic
Review in west Hertfordshire and its fit with the wider STP strategy, “A Healthier Future”.
•

Risk that the joint submission to obtain additional capital resource to successfully
transform the delivery of care in west Hertfordshire is unsuccessful.

•

Risk that there will be insufficient support from local bodies, the public, politicians and other
key stakeholders to transform the delivery of care in west Hertfordshire

•

Risk that there will be insufficient support from GP practices and GP federations to
transform the delivery of care in west Hertfordshire.

•

Risk that workforce issues prevent us from transforming the delivery of care across the local
health and social care system.
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•

Risk that we are unable to manage satisfactorily all transformation, quality, communication
and finance requirements during the mobilisation of the new community services contract.
[Added in Q4 following contract award.]

•

Risk that our plans do not focus on prevention of ill health and reduction of health
inequalities.

Affordable and Sustainable Care. We will ensure that we fulfill our statutory duty to
deliver a financially sustainable and affordable healthcare system in west Hertfordshire.
•

Risk that we do not deliver a financially sustainable integrated healthcare system in
collaboration with our partners in the STP.

•

Risk that we do not drive the required value and level of transformation through our
identified QIPP schemes.

•

Risk that we do not make sufficient progress on the QIPP schemes identified

•

Risk that we do not achieve financial balance in 2018/19

•

Risk that we do not have sufficient financial resource to manage the increase in legal
challenges to our commissioning decisions.

The board is accountable for ensuring that the CCG has an effective programme for
managing all types of risk and reviews risks to the strategic objectives of the CCG. It receives
details of all new high-level risk exposures at each formal meeting and reviews the board
assurance framework and corporate risk register. The CCG executive directors own all risks
on the board assurance framework and the corporate risk register. Monthly reviews of all
strategic and significant risks are undertaken with individual members of the senior
leadership team and the executive team. Risk reports are reviewed collectively by the
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executive team before submission to the board and its committees to ensure that timely and
accurate information is shared assessing risks to compliance with the clinical
commissioning group’s statutory obligations.

In order to verify that risks are being managed appropriately, and that the CCG can deliver
its objectives, the board receives and considers written reports from the audit committee,
committees of the board and the executive. Every report to board and committees include a
front sheet that requires the author to set out any strategic or significant risks that are
relevant to the subject matter and identify the appropriate level of assurance that the board
can take in relation to each risk. Since quarter 3, committees of the board have received
more detailed reports concerning the risks in their sphere of responsibility, and provide
assurance to the board about the controls in place and progress on action plans to mitigate
these risks.
Internal audit undertook a review of risk management and assurance in January 2019 and
concluded that: “ taking account of the issues identified, the board can take substantial
assurance that the controls upon which the organisation relies to manage the identified
risk(s) are suitably designed, consistently applied and operating effectively”.

Other sources of assurance
Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical
commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to
identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and
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the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and
economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness.
The audit committee has oversight of the internal control mechanisms on behalf of the
board. Executive directors and the commissioning executive committee oversee the
management and delivery of internal control mechanisms. The audit committee bases
its assessments, and therefore assurances, on the effectiveness of the CCG’s controls
on:
•

Assurances provided by the board and committees’ work programmes;

•

Reviews of CCG policies and procedures (e.g. annual review of detailed
financial policies);

•

Provision of assurance from independent sources (e.g. internal audit or third party reviews
undertaken).

Annual audit of conflicts of interest management
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June
2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest
management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a
template audit framework.
The CCG has carried out their annual internal audit of conflicts of interest which concluded
that: “Taking account of the issues identified, the board can take substantial assurance that
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the controls upon which the organisation relies to manage the identified area(s) are suitably
designed, consistently applied and operating effectively.”

Data Quality
Good information is essential for the commissioning of appropriate services. The CCG’s
Business Information and Performance team provide key metrics to all committees and to
CCG directors and their staff to enable discharge of their respective functions.
Collaboration agreements are in place between the CCG, East and North Hertfordshire
CCG, Hertfordshire County Council, local NHS providers, North and East London CSU and
commercial partners to allow the necessary data flows.
The board considers the quality of data it receives to be acceptable.

Information Governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which
the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal
identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an
information governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to
the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal
information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively. The Toolkit is now
called the data security and protection toolkit, HVCCG met all the mandatory assertions.

We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems
and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information. We have
established an information governance management framework and have developed
information governance processes and procedures in line with the data security and
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protection toolkit. We have ensured all staff undertake annual information governance
training and have implemented a staff information governance handbook, which is updated
annually, to ensure staff are aware of their information governance roles and
responsibilities.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents.
We have developed information risk assessment and management procedures and a
programme will be established to fully embed an information risk culture throughout the
organisation against identified risks.
The advisory internal audit of the CCG’s information governance (IG) toolkit was completed
in January 2019. There were five areas that had recommended actions to be carried out;
these were completed/actioned for toolkit submission at the end of March 2019.

Cyber Risks
Herts Valleys CCG identifies, controls and manages cyber security risk as one of six partners
who have established a partnership for IT services, known as Herts, Beds & Luton ICT
Business Services (HBLICT). Services provided include Business Continuity, Disaster
Recovery, Major Incident Management, Governance and Compliance. The Leadership Team
of HBLICT includes a person with specific responsibility for Governance, Risk and
Compliance. Either the Chief Finance Officer, as SIRO, or a CCG senior manager, routinely
attends the Partnership Board, which receives reports and updates on the activities of
HBLICT with regard to cyber security. The follow up on these reports is managed through
the Partnership Board.
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Business Critical Models
The CCG can confirm that an appropriate framework and environment continued to be in
place during 2018-19 to provide quality assurance of business critical models.
There are several aspects of the 2013 MacPherson review which are of relevance to the CCG
to increase the robustness of the modelling work we undertake as well as providing
assurance to the relevant committee and board of the level of confidence which can be
taken from the modelling estimates. The recommendations from the Macpherson report
highlight several of these and they have been adapted for CCG use:

•

All models should have appropriate quality assurance of their inputs, methodology and
outputs in the context of the risks their use represents. If unavoidable time constraints
prevent this happening then this should be explicitly acknowledged and reported.

•

All models should be managed within a framework that ensures that appropriately
specialist staff are responsible for developing and using the models as well as quality
assurance.
•

There should be a single senior responsible owner for each model through its lifecycle,
and clarity from the outset on how quality assurance (QA) is to be managed. Business
cases using results from models should summarise what QA processes have been
undertaken, including the extent of expert scrutiny and challenge. They should also
confirm if the SRO is content that the QA process is compliant and appropriate with
any model limitations, risks, and the major assumptions are understood and applied in
generating the model outputs. This needs to include end users of any model prepared.

•

The CCG needs to continue to build the right environment for QA, including how they will
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address the issues of culture, capacity and capability, and control, including where possible
the development of standardised processes.

Third party assurances
•

The CCG receives some of its financial services functions from East & North Hertfordshire
Clinical Commissioning Group (E&NHCCG) however, the transactions and services
managed are subject to HVCCG’s financial control policies and procedures and assurance
is received through internal audit reports.

•

HVCCG also receives its information and communication technology (ICT) service from
Hertfordshire, Bedfordshire & Luton ICT Services (Hosted by E&NHCCG). The ICT function is
overseen by the HBL ICT stakeholder board at which HVCCG is represented at Director
level. This board considers the effectiveness of the services received and makes
recommendations for improvement.
•

HVCCG receives administrative functions in relation to the delivery of delegated primary
care commissioning from Capita Services Ltd. The CCG has received a Service Auditor
Report in relation to these services. The Service Auditor issued a qualified opinion. The
report identifies exceptions with three out of the 16 control objectives. These are focused
mainly around management of authorised lists and system access as follows:

-

that updates to GPs and registers records are made completely and accurately based on
valid/authorised requests;

-

that changes to data on Pensions Online are accurate and are supported by
valid/authorised requests.

-

that logical access by internal Capita staff to NHAIS/Open Exeter is restricted to authorised
individuals.
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Progress has been made in addressing the issues and actions have been agreed for
improvements. The issues noted are either not applicable to Herts Valleys CCG or have
been subsequently tested by the Service Auditor and no further exceptions have been
found. Apart from the exceptions noted above, the remaining control objectives met the
requirements.

Control Issues
The CCG has had no significant control issues in 2018/19.

Review of economy, efficiency, and effectiveness of the use of resources
The effectiveness of the use of resources and financial performance of the CCG is
monitored on a monthly basis by the board and its finance and performance committee.
The finance and performance committee is chaired by a lay member of the board.
Significant elements of its remit are to approve financial plans and monitor in-year
performance against those plans and to monitor contract performance. Financial
monitoring will include ensuring that the CCG does not exceed its running (management)
costs allocation. The CCG regularly conducts benchmarking of its activity in order to identify
areas for improvement and potential efficiencies. This information is taken into account in
the development of services QIPP (savings) schemes and bids for investment, all of which
are also considered and monitored by the finance and performance committee.
Corporate risks in respect of financial performance and the use of resources are captured in
the board assurance framework, corporate risk register and directorate level risk registers.
The highest level risks are reported to the audit committee and board of the CCG. The audit
committee is accountable to the board and its remit is to provide the board with an
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independent and objective view of the group’s systems, information and compliance with
laws, regulations and directions governing the group. It delivers this remit in the context of
the group’s priorities and the risks associated with achieving them. In accordance with
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the head of internal audit is required to provide an
annual opinion, based upon and limited to a risk-based plan of work agreed with
management and approved by the audit committee, on the overall adequacy and
effectiveness of the CCG’s risk management, control and governance processes. The opinion
contributes to the annual governance statement.
The latest ratings for quality of leadership in the CCG Improvement and Assessment
Framework are good.

Counter fraud arrangements
Counter fraud arrangements are in place for the CCG in line with the NHS Protect Standards
for Commissioners: Fraud, Bribery and Corruption].
We have a responsibility to ensure that NHS resources are protected from fraud,
bribery or corruption, which could impact on our ability to commission services and
treatment, as NHS funds are wrongfully diverted from patient care. We adhere to
the key standards that NHS Protect has set out for commissioners:
•

Strategic Governance – embedding anti-crime measures at all levels across the
organisation.

•

Inform and Involve – raising awareness amongst NHS staff, stakeholders and the
public of crime risk and the consequences of crime against the NHS.

•

Prevent and Deter – discouraging and minimising the opportunities for crime.

•

Hold to Account –investigating and seeking redress for economic crime.
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The following arrangements are in place:
•

An Accredited Counter Fraud Specialist is contracted to undertake counter fraud work
proportionate to identified risks.

•

The CCG Audit Committee receives a report against each of the Standards for
Commissioners at least annually. There is executive support and direction for a
proportionate proactive work plan to address identified risks.

•

A member of the executive board is proactively and demonstrably responsible for
tackling fraud, bribery, and corruption. This has been assigned to the Chief Finance
Officer.

•

Appropriate action is taken regarding any NHS Protect quality assurance
recommendations.

The audit committee provides lay member responsibility for the oversight of antifraud, corruption and bribery work. They receive the reports from the Accredited
Counter Fraud Specialist on the work undertaken. Additionally, the committee
receives an annual local counter fraud services report, which highlights key activities
during the year and performance against agreed KPIs. Appropriate action is taken
regarding any NHS Local Counter Fraud quality assurance recommendations.
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Head of Internal Audit Opinion
For the 12 months ended 31 March 2019, the head of internal audit opinion for Herts
Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group is as follows:

Head of internal audit opinion 2018/19

The enhancements relate to our findings within our Personal Health Budgets audit.107108
During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:
Area of Audit

Level of Assurance Given

Conflicts of Interest

Substantial Assurance

Risk Management and Board Assurance

Substantial assurance

Framework
Primary Care Commissioning

Substantial Assurance

Operational Resilience

Reasonable Assurance

Procurement and Contract Services

Reasonable Assurance

Better Care Fund

Reasonable Assurance

QIPP and Sustainability

Advisory audit

Procurement and Management of the

Advisory audit

Private Ambulance Service
GDPR

Advisory audit
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Personal Health Budgets

Partial Assurance

STP Workstreams (Draft)

Partial Assurance
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For Personal Health Budgets audit:
Issues leading to conclusion:
The CCG had some underlying issues that needed to be resolved so that they could work
towards the new guidance from NHSE and to ensure that by 2019 they are able to meet the
new directives so that more of their patients utilise PHBs routinely. The governance
arrangements around PHBs were not as robust as they should be and there was a potential
for duplication of assessments, administration and inefficient monitoring if these
arrangements were not strengthened. By streamlining the existing offering efficiency gains
could be realised.
The CCG was firmly committed to ensuring they provided the right care for their patients
and believed that PHBs were a fundamental entitlement to those patients that were
deemed eligible to have this offering. The CCG was securing more resources to ensure that
they were strengthening their capabilities within the existing team. At the time of this
review, the CCG was demonstrating partial assurance in delivering their PHB service,
however with the new arrangements taking place and the strengthening of the core team
the CCG should improve the robustness of their arrangements.
Action plans agreed:
Since the audit was conducted, action plans were agreed and action has subsequently been
taken to address the issues identified.
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For STP workstreams audit
Issues leading to conclusion:
We noted there was a lack of evidence of formal progress updates being presented to the
CEO Board in respect of the STP. In addition, through discussion with STP Head of PMO, it
was noted that there was no standard approach to developing PIDs for workstream
projects.
In addition, review of papers submitted to the CEO Board responsible for STP oversight
identified that the activity data was not presented in a programme-monitoring format and
there were no clear links to the KPI data. There was also no risk management framework in
place for the delivery of the STP.
Whilst the CCG Board papers included narrative updates about STP activities in the CEO
report, there was no formal update presented to the Board, or sub-committee, detailing
actual progress of delivery against STP plans. It was also not clear from the finance report
presented to the Board what funds the CCG had contributed to STP development.
In December 2018, it was established by the STP CEO Board that there were inconsistent
mechanisms for monitoring progress and reporting on delivery across the workstream
portfolio. Some project business cases had insufficient detail of KPIs, delivery milestones
and defined measures for project outcomes. It was agreed that a scoping exercise, led by
the STP PMO, would be carried out to ensure that all projects had PIDs in place and
standard programme reporting would be developed to ensure effective monitoring of
outcomes across the STP.
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Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and internal
control
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of
the internal auditors, executive managers, and clinical leads within the clinical
commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the
internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My
review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit
letter and other reports.
The latest ratings for quality of leadership in the CCG Improvement and Assessment
Framework are good.
Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that
manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its principles objectives have
been reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by:
•

The board self-assessment of effectiveness conclusions from 14 March 2019

•

The audit committee (annual report to board April 2019 conclusions to be added
here)

•

Internal audit (Head of Internal Audit Opinion)
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Conclusion
No significant internal control issues have been identified. Where internal audit work has
identified further enhancements to be made, their recommendations have been acted upon
as described above.

Signed:

Kathryn Magson
Accountable Officer
Dated: 23rd May 2019
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Remuneration and Staff Report
Remuneration Report
Elements of this report are subject to audit by the CCG’s external auditors. These elements
have been annotated as such. Other information and tables are not required to be audited.
Remuneration Committee
Please see Integrated Governance Protocol for details of the remuneration committee.
Remuneration Policy (not subject to audit)
The remuneration of senior managers is determined by national terms and conditions –
Very Senior Managers Pay Framework. The CCG’s senior managers are employed under the
nationally agreed contractual arrangements, all having been employed on permanent
contracts, which include an appropriate notice period. There is no provision in the contracts
for termination payments save for any contractual entitlements to redundancy
compensation, which would be calculated using the agreed NHS formula.
The CCG does not operate a Performance Related Pay policy for senior managers or any of
our staff. The Remuneration Committee reviewed and agreed in 2014-15 proposals for
introducing non-financial recognition for high achieving performance in the form of access
to external training and development opportunities.
The pay rates for staff, including senior managers, are assessed against the rates that other
commissioning groups and local NHS bodies offer for similar roles.
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Remuneration of Very Senior Managers (subject to audit)
The tables below detail the salaries and allowances of board members and other senior
managers who were part of the CCG’s Executive Team or regularly attended board meetings
during the year.
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Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements)
2018/19
(c)
Performance pay
and bonuses
(bands of £5,000)

(d)
Long term
performance pay
and bonuses
(bands of £5,000)

(e)
All pensionrelated benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

(f)
TOTAL
(a to e)
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

(b)
Expense
payments
(taxable)
to nearest
£100**
£

£000

£000

£000

£000

Kathryn Magson - Chief Executive Officer

140-145

400

0

0

0

140-145

Caroline Hall - Chief Finance Officer

110-115

100

0

0

10-12.5

120-125

Diane Curbishley - Director of Nursing & Quality

115-120

100

0

0

30-32.5

145-150

David Evans - Director of Commissioning - Note 7
Lynn Dalton - Director of Primary Care (from 1 May
2018) - Note 7
David Buckle - Medical Director (to 9 May 2018) Note 3

110-115

4,600

0

0

25-27.5

140-145

80-85

4,400

0

0

67.5-70

150-155

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

Dr Nicolas Small - GP Director and CCG Chair - Note 5

90-95

0

0

0

0

90-95

Dr Catherine Page - GP Director - Note 8

90-95

0

0

0

0

90-95

Dr Kevin Barrett - GP Director - Note 4 & 8

100-105

0

0

0

0

100-105

Dr Daniel Carlton-Conway - GP Director - Note 4 & 8

80-85

0

0

0

0

80-85

Dr Corina Ciobanu - GP Director - Note 4

100-105

0

0

0

0

100-105

Dr Rami Eliad - GP Director
Dr Trevor Fernandes - GP Director and Deputy
Clinical Chair

65-70

0

0

0

0

65-70

85-90

0

0

0

0

85-90

Dr Richard Pile - GP Director - Note 4
Thida Win - Secondary Care Consultant - (to 31
December 2018) Note 2

65-70

0

0

0

0

65-70

5-10

0

0

0

0

5-10

Stuart Bloom - Lay Member & CCG Vice Chair - Note

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

Name and Title

(a)
Salary
(bands of £5,000)

Page 117

2018/19
(c)
Performance pay
and bonuses
(bands of £5,000)

(d)
Long term
performance pay
and bonuses
(bands of £5,000)

(e)
All pensionrelated benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

(f)
TOTAL
(a to e)
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

(b)
Expense
payments
(taxable)
to nearest
£100**
£

£000

£000

£000

£000

Alison Gardner - Lay Member - Note 2

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

Paul Smith - Lay Member - Note 2

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

Name and Title

(a)
Salary
(bands of £5,000)

2

Thelma Stober - Lay Member - Note 2

**Note: Taxable expenses and benefits in kind are expressed to the nearest £100.
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Notes on Salaries and Allowances Table

1. Pension-related benefits are calculated in accordance with the 'HMRC method’. In summary, this
is as follows:
Increase = ((20 x PE) + LSE) – ((20 x PB) + LSB, where
• PE is the annual rate of unreduced pension that would be payable to the individual if they became
entitled to it at the end of the financial year.
• PB is the annual rate of unreduced pension, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to the
individual if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year.
• LSE is the amount of unreduced lump sum that would be payable to the individual if they became
entitled to it at the end of the financial year.
• LSB is the amount of unreduced lump sum, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to the
individual if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year.
2. As Lay Members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of
pension benefits.
3. David Buckle does not have an entry in respect of pension benefits because he is not a member of
the Pension scheme.
4. Where a GP Board member is working under a "contract for services" and the GP is set up on the
payroll system to satisfy HMRC rulings, the position is pensionable under the "Practioner Pension
Scheme". The CCG must make the post non pensionable on the payroll and submit a GP Solo form
with the employer's pension contribution of 14.3% plus an administration levy of 0.08% to the NHS
Pension Authority. The salary banding above comprises of gross payment plus employer pension
contribution.
5. During 2018/19 Nicolas Small, GP Board Member and CCG Chair held the role of Clinical Lead to
the Herts and West Essex Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP). As such, £22,449 of
his salary was recharged to West Essex CCG and is not represented in the values shown above.
6. Other than those referred to in Note 7, the taxable expense payments referred to in the table
above relate to the re-imbursement of mileage undertaken on official duties. The benefit arises from
the mileage allowance payments made to all staff, to reimburse them for expenses related to the
use of their own vehicle for business travel. Herts Valleys CCG pays the rate per mile set out in
Agenda for Change, which exceeds the HMRC "approved mileage allowance payments" rate in
2018-19 of 45p a mile. The excess amount is taxable and is disclosed above.
7. The taxable expense payments for David Evans and Lynn Dalton relates to lease cars.
8. Members who joined the Board on 1 April 2018
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2017/18
(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Salary

Expense payments

Performance pay

Long term performance

All pension-related

TOTAL

(bands of £5,000)

(taxable)

and bonuses

pay and bonuses (bands

benefits

(a to e)

to nearest £100**

(bands of £5,000)

of £5,000)

(bands of £2,500)

(bands of £5,000)

£000

£

£000

£000

£000

£000

Kathryn Magson - Chief Executive
Officer - Note 1
Caroline Hall - Chief Finance Officer

140-145

0

0

0

105-107.5

245-250

110-115

0

0

0

70-72.5

180-185

David Buckle -Medical Director Note 3
Diane Curbishley - Director of
Nursing & Quality
David Evans - Director of
Commissioning (from 10 August
2017)
Dr Nicolas Small - GP Director and
CCG Chair - Note 5 & 6
Trevor Fernandes - GP Director and
Deputy Clinical Chair - Note 5
Richard Pile - GP Director - Note 5

90-95

0

0

0

0

90-95

110-115

0

0

0

47.5-50

160-165

70-75

3,700

0

0

15-17.5

90-95

125-130

0

0

0

0

125-130

90-95

0

0

0

0

90-95

75-80

0

0

0

0

75-80

Michael Edwards - GP Director - Note
5
Rami Eliad - GP Director - Note 5

45-50

0

0

0

0

45-50

70-75

0

0

0

0

70-75

Clair Moring - GP Director - Note 5

80-85

0

0

0

0

80-85

Mike Walton - GP Director - Note 5

80-85

0

0

0

0

80-85

Corina Ciobanu - GP Director (from
12 May 2017) - Note 5
Thida Win - Secondary Care
Consultant - Note 2

80-85

0

0

0

0

80-85

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

Name and Title
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2017/18
(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Salary

Expense payments

Performance pay

Long term performance

All pension-related

TOTAL

(bands of £5,000)

(taxable)

and bonuses

pay and bonuses (bands

benefits

(a to e)

to nearest £100**

(bands of £5,000)

of £5,000)

(bands of £2,500)

(bands of £5,000)

£000

£

£000

£000

£000

£000

Stuart Bloom - Lay Member & CCG
Vice Chair - Note 2
Alison Gardner - Lay Member - Note
2
Paul Smith - Lay Member - Note 2

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

10-15

100

0

0

0

10-15

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

Thelma Stober - Lay Member - Note
2

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

Name and Title

Page 121

Notes on Salaries and Allowances Table
1.Since last year's calculation for Kathryn Magson, 1995 Scheme benefits have been transferred to the 2015
Scheme.
2. As Lay Members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of pension
benefits for Lay Members.
3. David Buckle does not have an entry in respect of pension benefits because he is not a member of the
Pension scheme.
4. Pension-related benefits are calculated in accordance with the 'HMRC method’. In summary, this is as
follows:
Increase = ((20 x PE) + LSE) – ((20 x PB) + LSB, where
• PE is the annual rate of unreduced pension that would be payable to the individual if they became entitled to
it at the end of the financial year.
• PB is the annual rate of unreduced pension, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to the individual if
they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year.
• LSE is the amount of unreduced lump sum that would be payable to the individual if they became entitled to
it at the end of the financial year.
• LSB is the amount of unreduced lump sum, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to the individual if
they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year
5. Where a GP Board member is working under a "contract for services" and the GP is set up on the payroll
system to satisfy HMRC rulings, the position is pensionable under the "Practioner Pension Scheme". The CCG
must make the post non-pensionable on the payroll and submit a GP Solo form with the employer's pension
contribution of 14.3% plus an administration levy of 0.08% to the NHS Pension Authority. The salary banding
above comprises of gross payment plus employer pension contribution, where relevant.
6. In additional to his remuneration as a GP Board Member and CCG Chair above, Nicholas Small also received
£8,418 in salary which is recharged to Hertfordshire Partnership Foundation NHS Trust for his role as the
clinical lead in the Hertfordshire and West Essex Sustainability and Transformation Plan.
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Pension benefits as at 31 March 2019
(a)
Real
increase in
pension at
pension
age
(bands of
£2,500)
£000

(b)
Real increase in
pension lump
sum at pension
age
(bands of
£2,500)

(c)
Total accrued
pension at
pension age at
31 March 2019
(bands of
£5,000)

(d)
Lump sum at
pension age
related to
accrued pension
at 31 March 2019
(bands of £5,000

(e)
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 1
April 2018

(f)
Real
Increase in
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

(g)
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March
2019

(h)
Employers
Contribution
to
partnership
pension

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Kathryn Magson - Accountable
Officer - Note 1
Caroline Hall - Chief Finance
Officer
Diane Curbishley - Director of
Nursing & Quality
David Evans - Director of
Commissioning - Note 1
David Buckle - Medical Director
(to 9 May 2018) - Note 2
Lynn Dalton - Director of
Primary Care (from 1 May 2018)
Dr Nicolas Small - GP Director
and CCG Chair
Dr Catherine Page - GP Director

0

0

10-15

0

141

0

154

0

0-2.5

0

35-40

85-90

608

75

717

0

0-2.5

5-7.5

40-45

130-135

731

121

891

0

0-2.5

0

5-10

0

41

16

73

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

2.5-5.0

10-12.5

15-20

55-60

352

103

484

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Dr Trevor Fernandes - GP
Director & Deputy Clinical Chair
Dr Kevin Barrett - GP Director Note 3

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Name and Title
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Dr Daniel Carlton-Conway - GP
Director - Note 3
Dr Corinne Ciobanu - GP
Director - Note 3
Dr Rami Eliad - GP Director

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Dr Richard Pile - GP Director Note 3
T Win - Secondary Care
Consultant (to 31 December
2018)
Stuart Bloom - Lay Member Note 4
Alison Gardner - Lay Member Note 4
Paul Smith - Lay Member - Note
4
Thelma Stober - Lay Member Note 4

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0
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Notes
1. 2015 scheme benefits do not include lump sum payments.
2. Previously opted out from pension scheme.
3. Where a GP Board member is working under a "contract for services" and the GP is set up on the payroll
system to satisfy HMRC rulings, the position is pensionable under the "Practioner Pension Scheme". The CCG
must make the post non-pensionable on the payroll and submit a GP Solo form with the employer's pension
contribution of 14.3% plus an administration levy of 0.08% to the NHS Pension Authority. The salary banding
above comprises of gross payment plus employer pension contribution.
4. As Lay Members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of pensions
for Lay Members.
5. Cash Equivalent Transfer Values
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme
benefits accrued by a member at a particularly point in time. The benefits valued are the member's accrued
benefits and any contingent spouse's pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a
pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when
the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their
membership of the pension scheme. This may be for more than just their service in a senior capacity to which
disclosure applies (in which case this fact will be noted at the foot of the table). The CETV figures and the other
pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the
individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme.

They also include any additional pension benefit

accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at
their own cost.
CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
6. Real Increase in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include the increase in accrued
pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred
from another scheme or arrangement).
The factors used to calculate the CETV increased on 29 October 2018 and will have affected the calculation of
the real increase in CETV.

23rd May 2019 Date Finance Signing Officer
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Compensation on early retirement of for loss of office
There has been no compensation paid on early retirement or for loss of office.
Payments to past members
There have been no payments to past members.
Pay multiples (subject to audit)
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the
highest-paid director/member in the organisation and the median remuneration of the
CCG’s workforce, as at the reporting date (31st March 2019).
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member in Herts Valleys CCG at the
reporting date was £140,000 - £145,000. (2017-18: £140,000 - £145,000). This was 3.66
times (2017-18: 3.82 times) the median remuneration of the CCG’s workforce which was
£38,894 (2017-18: £37,259).
In 2018-19, at the reporting date, no employee received remuneration in excess of the
highest paid director /member of the CCG's governing body. In 2018-19 remuneration
ranged from £144,575 to £11,224* (2017-18:£155,031 to £11,224).
*Although this value is below minimum wage, it relates to a specific number of sessions
worked, rather than being a full-time salary.
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance related pay and benefitsin-kind. It does not include severance payments, employer pension contributions (with the
exception of GP Directors where employer pension contributions are included in accordance
with guidance) and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.
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Staff Report
This report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Department of
Health and Social Care’s Group Accounting Manual (paragraph 3.57).
Workforce Data
Information, including the CCG staff composition, costs and sickness absence, is shown
below.
Number of senior managers
At 31st March 2019, the CCG has 88 employees who are Governing Body members,
Directors, or Senior Managers. In addition, there are 12 members of the Governing Body,
who are not on NHS Agenda for Change pay scales who have not been included within the
table below, but are included in the ‘Staff Composition’ table for Governing Body members.
Pay Band
Band 8a
Band 8b
Band 8c
Band 8d
Band 9
VSM

Number
of Staff
25
33
12
7
5
6

Page 127

Staff numbers and costs
Employee benefits and staff numbers (subject to audit)
Employee benefits

2018-19

Total

Admin

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship Levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

10,985
1,009
1,230
0
34
10
13,268

9,545
1,009
1,230
0
34
10
11,828

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
13,268

0
11,828

Employee benefits

2017-18
Total
£'000

Total
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Programme

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Other
£'000

1,440
0
0
0
0
0
1,440

7,502
708
823
0
34
10
9,077

6,489
708
823
0
34
10
8,064

1,013
0
0
0
0
0
1,013

3,483
301
407
0
0
0
4,191

3,056
301
407
0
0
0
3,764

427
0
0
0
0
0
427

0
1,440

0
9,077

0
8,064

0
1,013

0
4,191

0
3,764

0
427

Admin
Other
£'000

Total
£'000

11,860
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Programme
Permanent
Employees
Other
£'000
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship Levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

9,918
894
1,013
0
30
4
11,860

8,037
894
1,013
0
30
4
9,978

1,881
0
0
0
0
0
1,881

7,718
710
768
0
30
4
9,229

6,265
710
768
0
30
4
7,776

1,453
0
0
0
0
0
1,453

2,201
185
245
0
0
0
2,630

1,773
185
245
0
0
0
2,202

428
0
0
0
0
0
428

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
11,860

0
9,978

0
1,881

0
9,229

0
7,776

0
1,453

0
2,630

0
2,202

0
428

Total
Number

Permanently
employed
Number

Other
Number

Total
Number

Permanently
employed
Number

Other
Number

215.22

200.22

15.00

183.76

165.99

17.77

Average number of people employed (subject to audit)
2018-19

Total
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2017-18

Staff composition (as at 31 March 2019, report run 5 April 2019)
Governing Body members (includes VSM pay framework grades and some Non-Agenda for
Change members)
Male
Headcount
8

%
53.33

Female
Headcount
7

%
46.67

Female
Headcount
70

%
82.35

Female
Headcount
96

%
80.00

Senior Managers – Band 8a and above
Male
Headcount
15

%
17.65

All other bands (band 7 and below)
Male
Headcount
24

%
20.00

Non AFC payments (other than Governing Body members)
Male
Headcount
18

%
54.55

Female
Headcount
15

%
45.45

Sickness absence data
The sickness absence data for the calendar year 2018 has been provided by NHS Digital and
covers the period 1st January 2018 to 31st December 2018. For the 2017 year, only part year
data for the period January 2017 to October 2017 was available.
Total days lost (source NHS Digital)
Average absence per employee (days) (source NHS Digital)
Long Term Absences (Source ESR)
Days Lost to Long Term Absence (Source ESR) – included within
total days above
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2018/19
1,433
4.7
16
841

2017/18
1,605
7.7
12
866

Equality and Diversity
The Equality Act 2010: The Public Sector Equality Duty
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 states that a public authority must have due regard to
the need to:
•

eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is
prohibited by or under this Act;

•

advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it;

•

foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
and persons who do not share it.

Throughout the year of this Annual Report, Herts Valleys CCG’s engagement approach was
fully cognisant of this duty and it will continue to promote equality of opportunity for the
population of Herts Valleys in the context of all its commissioning engagement activities in
the future.
We met our statutory responsibilities around data publication and will meet the NHS
requirements in using the NHS Equality Delivery System (EDS2) and the Workforce Race
Equality Standard (WRES) as tools to enable us to review our equality and diversity work and
identify where improvements can be made.
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NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES)

CCGs are required to have “due regard” to the WRES in respect of their own workforce. It is
recognised that the small size of many CCGs means that a literal application and
interpretation of the indicators should be approached with caution. CCGs should pay due
regard to the WRES both as an indication they are complying with their Public Sector
Equality Duty and in order to demonstrate that as commissioners they also take the intent
of the WRES seriously.”
29% of the CCG’s workforce is from a black and ethnic minority (BME) background. This is a
slight decrease from last year but our proportion of BME employees is higher than the BME
proportion of the local demographic (11.24%). BME employees are spread throughout the
pay bands in the CCG (from Band 4 to Band 9). These are indicators that we are performing
well.
Equality and Diversity Action Planning and the NHS Equality Delivery System (EDS2)
The CCG is required to implement EDS2. Our last assessment took place a number of years
ago and as part of a Hertfordshire wide assessment and was graded as Developing (on a
scale of Undeveloped, Developing, Achieving and Excelling). We have begun the review of
our EDS2. It is looking only at the work of Herts Valleys CCG. We will use the findings from
that to refresh our equality and diversity strategy and action plan.
Following changes to the way that equality and diversity was delivered to the CCG, now a
shared resource with the two Hertfordshire CCGs and Bedfordshire CCG to improve sharing
of expertise and good practice.
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Organisational Gender Profile
Overall Workforce
Gender
Male
Female

24.51
75.49

Percentage of each gender by pay band
Key: Non-AfC = Not on NHS Agenda for Change terms and conditions
VSM = Very Senior Managers
Pay Band
Band 2
Band 3
Band 4
Band 5
Band 6
Band 7
Band 8a
Band 8b
Band 8c
Band 8d
Band 9
Non AFC
VSM

Female
1.61%
1.08%
8.06%
11.29%
13.44%
16.67%
12.90%
15.05%
3.76%
2.69%
2.69%
9.14%
1.61%

Male
7.94%
9.52%
4.76%
12.70%
3.17%
7.94%
1.59%
4.76%
42.86%
4.76%

Staff policies
Staff policies applied during the year
The following revised staff policies were applied during the year:
•

Agency and Interim Use Policy

•

Agile working Policy

•

Alcohol Drug and Substance Misuse Policy

•

Annual Leave Policy

•

Appraisal and Performance Review Policy
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•

Apprenticeship Policy

•

Attendance Management and Wellbeing Policy

•

Bullying and Harassment Policy

•

Capability Management Policy

•

Disciplinary Policy

•

Employment Break Policy

•

Equality and Diversity Policy

•

Flexible Working Policy

•

Grievance Policy

•

Maternity, Maternity Support (Paternity), Adoption/Fostering, Parental Leave Policy

•

Organisational Change Policy

•

Overtime, On-Call and Working Time Policy

•

Probation and induction Policy

•

Raising Concerns (Whistleblowing) Policy

•

Recruitment and Selection Policy

•

Secondment Policy

•

Special Leave Policy

•

Verification of Professional Registrations Policy

•

Volunteer Policy

All staff policies are available on the website www.hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk
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Other employee matters
Job applications from disabled persons
The CCG previously held the Positive About Disabled People (PADP) award presented by
Jobcentre Plus to those employers who demonstrated a commitment to recruiting disabled
employees and developing their skills and prospects. This award was also known as the Two
Ticks award because of the design of logo looked like two ticks.
The PADP award was replaced by the Disability Confident award, and at the expiration of
our PADP certificate we applied for, and were awarded, the Disability Confident Employer
award. This awarded for two years from June 2017, recognising our commitment to
recruiting and developing disabled employees.

2018 NHS staff survey results
We had an excellent response rate from staff of 83.8 per cent which is our highest ever and
it is higher than the national average.
You can also see the results in full for Herts Valleys and all NHS organisations here:
http://www.nhsstaffsurveys.com/Page/1056/Home/NHS-Staff-Survey-2018/.
Overall, our results are very close to the national average with some areas where we have
performed particularly well and others where we need to make some improvements to be
on a par with our peers.
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Staff Involvement Group
Our staff involvement group (SIG), made up of voluntary representatives across the CCG,
supports our responsibility to ensure the wellbeing, motivation and engagement of our
workforce.
The group, co-chaired by the Director of Workforce and Associate Director of
Communications and Engagement, provides a forum for staff to air their views on key issues
affecting staff and wellbeing and makes recommendations to the executive team. They also
act as a sounding board for proposed new initiatives across the business.
Over the last year the group has supported the launch of the CCG’s new intranet and
website, testing the prototype pages and providing content. The group held extraordinary
meetings to comment on feedback from staff following an office move consultation. These
comments where then presented to the executive board.
Relevant organisational policies are reviewed and approved by the group before going to
the executive team for final approval, with a SIG member sitting on the policy forum
committee who regularly meet to review all Human Resource policies.

Staff wellbeing
With resilience during the winter months being so important GP board member, Kevin
Barrett, completed his flu vaccinations of staff members. This proved popular with the staff
with a total of 99 vaccinations taking place during the month of November at our Hemel
One office.
During the month of January we promoted dry January and the benefits of taking part. We
focussed on mental health during the month of February. Promoting the messages of the
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campaign ‘Time to talk’ including holding a 'tea and talk' morning for staff to come along,
sample some diverse teas donated by a local company, and talk.
We continue to invite a chiropractor on a monthly basis and reflexologist who also provides
back and shoulder massage at the Hemel One office. Both of these specialists provide
treatments which colleagues find supportive to their wellbeing, as well as being convenient
to access and good value for money.

Expenditure on consultancy
The CCG recorded net expenditure of £256,519 on management consultancy in 2018/19.
The principle transactions are summarised in the table below:
CONSULTANCY PROVIDER
BARKEROLLINS LTD
C WHEATCROFT PROFESSIONAL
SERVICES
CARNALL FARRAR LTD
CHANNEL 3 CONSULTING LTD
DBPROFILE LTD
OFFICESCAPE CONTRACTS LTD
ROWAN TREE UK LTD
OTHER PROVIDERS
TOTAL

Amount
(£)
87,983
32,688

Purpose

26,460
10,800
53,838
13,175
24,635
6,940
256,519

System demand and capacity review support
Business Intelligence Data Analytics
Business Intelligence Data Analytics
Change Management
Business Intelligence Data Analytics
Various
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Procurement support
Procurement support

Off-payroll engagements
Table 1: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months
For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2019, for more than £245 per day and that
last longer than six months.
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2019
Of which…
Number that have existed for less than one year at time of reporting
Number that have existed for between one and two years at time of reporting
Number that have existed for between two and three years at time of reporting
Number that have existed for between three and four years at time of reporting
Number that have existed for four or more years at time of reporting

7
2
2
0
0
3

Table 2: For all new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration, between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019, for more than £245 per day and that
last longer than six months (not subject to audit)
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration,
between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019
Of which…
Number assessed as caught by IR35
Number assessed as not caught by IR35
Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) and are on the
departmental payroll
Number of engagements re-assessed for consistency / assurance purposes
during the year
Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35

10
8
2
0
0
1

Table 3: Off-payroll board member/senior official engagements
For any off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officials with significant
financial responsibility, between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019.
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officials
with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year **

3

Number of individuals that have been deemed ‘board members, and/or senior
officials with significant responsibility’ during the financial year. This figure
19
should include both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements
** The three board members have entered into a pooling arrangement with their practice
having received prior authorisation from HMRC.
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Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments (subject to audit)
The CCG made one payment in respect of an exit package during the financial year to value
of £9,614. This consisted of £4,089 in respect of a voluntary redundancy payment, £2,044
for payment in lieu of contractual notice and £3,481 for payment of accrued but untaken
annual leave.
Redundancy and other departure cost have been paid in accordance with the provisions of
the Agenda for Change pay scheme for NHS staff. Exit costs in this note are accounted for in
full in the year of departure. Where the CCG has agreed early retirements, the additional
costs are met by the CCG and not by the NHS Pensions Scheme.

The Remuneration Report includes disclosure of exit packages payable to individuals named
in that Report.
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report
Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group is not required to produce a Parliamentary
Accountability and Audit Report, which would require disclosure on remote contingent
liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and fees and charges in this Accountability
Report. However, it can confirm that there have been no such items that require this
disclosure during 2018/19. An audit certificate and report is included in this Annual Report
at page 140.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S STATEMENT TO THE ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER OF NHS HERTS VALLEYS
CCG ON THE CCG ACCOUNTS CONSOLIDATION TEMPLATE

We have examined the Accounts Consolidation Template of NHS Herts Valteys CCG, version 10 for
the year ended 31 March 2019.
This statement is made sotety to the accountable officer of NHS Herts Vatteys CCG in accordance
with Part 5 paragraph 20(5) of the Local Audit and Accountabitity Act 2014 and paragraph 4.2 of the
Code of Audit Practice and for no other purpose.
For the purpose of this statement, reviewing the consistency of figures between the audited
financiaI statements and the Accounts Consotidation Template extends only to those figures within
the Accounts Consolidation Temptate which are also inctuded in the audited financial statements.

Auditors are required to report on any differences over 8300,000 between the audited financiat
statements and the Accounts Consotidation Temptate.

1.

Unqualífíed audìt opìníon on the audíted fìnancíal statements; no dífferences ídentífied:

The figures reported in the Accounts Consolidation Template are consistent with the audited
financial statements, on which we have issued an unquatified opinion.

3¡o LL(
Lisa Ctampin

For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor

lpswich,

UK

23 May 2019
BDO LLP is a limited liabitity partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number
oc3051 27).
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NHS Herts Valleys CCG - Annual Accounts 2018-19
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2019
2018-19
£'000

Restated
2017-18
£'000

(941)
(2)
(943)

(807)
(1)
(808)

13,268
853,075
381
555
867,279

11,860
832,776
3,713
568
848,917

Net operating expenditure

866,336

848,109

Total Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended 31 March

866,336

848,109

Note
Revenue from contracts with customers
Other operating income
Total operating income
Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Provision expense
Other operating expenditure
Total operating expenditure

2
3
3
3

The notes on pages 149 to 163 form part of this statement.
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NHS Herts Valleys CCG - Annual Accounts 2018-19
Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2019
2018-19
£'000

2017-18
£'000

4,837
381
5,218

6,991
397
7,388

(74,826)
(3,454)
(78,280)

(57,395)
(4,183)
(61,578)

Net Current Liabilities

(73,062)

(54,190)

Assets less Liabilities

(73,062)

(54,190)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Total Taxpayers' Equity

(73,062)
(73,062)

(54,190)
(54,190)

Note
Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

5

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Total current liabilities

6

The notes on pages 149 to 163 form part of this statement.

The financial statements on pages 145 to 148 were approved by the Audit Committee (on behalf of the
rd
Board) on 23 May 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

Kathryn Magson
Accountable Officer
rd

Date: 23 May 2019
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended
31 March 2019
General
fund
£'000
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19
Balance at 1 April 2018
Impact of applying IFRS 9 to Opening Balances
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March
2018

(54,190)
(6)
(54,196)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(866,336)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the financial year
including balance brought forward from previous year

(920,532)

Net funding

847,470

Balance at 31 March 2019

(73,062)

General
fund
£'000
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18
Balance at 1 April 2017

(46,518)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18
Net operating costs for the financial year

(848,109)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the financial year
including balance brought forward from previous year

(894,627)

Net funding

840,437

Balance at 31 March 2018

(54,190)
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2019
2018-19
£'000

2017-18
£'000

(866,336)
(6)
2,154
17,431
(1,110)
381
(847,486)

(848,109)
0
(2,603)
6,874
(236)
3,713
(840,361)

(847,486)

(840,361)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received

847,470

840,437

Net Cash Inflow from Financing Activities

847,470

840,437

(16)

76

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the financial year

397

321

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the end of the financial year

381

397

Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Non-cash movements arising on application of new accounting standards
Decrease / (Increase) in trade & other receivables
Increase in trade & other payables
Provisions utilised
Increase in provisions
Net Cash Outflow from Operating Activities

6

Net Cash Outflow before Financing

Net (Decrease) / Increase in Cash & Cash Equivalents
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5

Notes to the financial statements
1

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) shall
meet the accounting requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of
Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2018-19 issued by the Department of Health and
Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow International
Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to CCGs, as
determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the
Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is
judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning group
for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by
the CCG are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered
material in relation to the accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a
service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in
published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will
continue to be provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining
whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If services will
continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.
Accounting Convention

1.2

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention.
1.3

Pooled Budgets
The CCG contributes to pooled budget arrangements under a s75 agreement with Hertfordshire
County Council (HCC). These arrangements do not fall within the scope of IFRS 11.
The pool is hosted by HCC and the CCG accounts for its contributions to the pool as expenditure.
Underspends and overspends are attributed to and accounted for by the contributors to the pool in
accordance with the risk arrangements set out in the s75 agreement.

1.4

Revenue
The transition to IFRS 15 is complete with the application of the Standard retrospectively recognising
the cumulative effects at the date of initial application. Revenue in respect of services provided is
recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of
the consideration received. Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in
the following year, that income is deferred. A review undertaken by the CCG has determined that
the application of IFRS 15 has negligible impact as the CCG does not receive any significant operating
revenue from contracts.
The value of the benefit received when the CCG accesses funds from the Government’s
apprenticeship service are recognised as income in accordance with IAS 20, Accounting for
Government Grants. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training provider, noncash income and a corresponding non-cash training expense are recognised, both equal to the cost
of the training funded.
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1.5

Employee Benefits

1.5.1

Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service
is received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the
financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the
following period.

1.5.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme
is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other
bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is
not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the
underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a
defined contribution scheme: the cost to the CCG of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to
the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not
funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to
expenditure at the time the CCG commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of
payment.

1.6

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have
been received. They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.

1.7

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice
of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from
the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant
risk of change in value.

1.8

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the CCG becomes
party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when
the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has
been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

1.9

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) Group Accounting Manual does not require the
following IFRS Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2018-19:
● IFRS 16 Leases – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
However the implementation of this standard has been deferred by the Financial Reporting Advisory
Board (FRAB) for all NHS entities for one year to accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April
2020.
● IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2021, but not yet adopted by HM Treasury into the Financial Reporting Manual (FReM):
early adoption is not therefore permitted.
● IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments – Application required for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
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The application of IFRS 17 and IFRIC 23 has no impact on the accounts for 2018-19, were they
applied in that year, as the CCG does not have any transactions covered by these accounting
standards. The impact of IFRS 16 is unknown once it is applied as an assessment has not yet been
undertaken.
1.10

Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the CCG’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those
estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

1.10.1

Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
There are no critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that
management have made in the process of applying the CCG's accounting policies that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

1.10.2

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the
CCG’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:
Secondary Healthcare
Secondary care activity reports are received from providers monthly, but activity information for the
final month of the year is not available in time for the accounts and estimates of £30,117k for 201819 (£15,327k 2017-18) were made in agreement with providers. The increase in the estimate
compared to the previous year is due to not having received the month 12 activity report from the
CCG's main provider, West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust. A full reconciliation is undertaken
once actual activity is agreed which is at the end of the first quarter of the following year. Any
increase or decrease in activity (if any) becomes a charge or credit in the next financial year.
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2. Employee benefits and staff numbers
2.1 Employee benefits
Employee benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

2018-19
£'000

2017-18
£'000

10,985
1,009
1,230
34
10
13,268

9,918
895
1,013
30
4
11,860

2.2 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details
of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at
www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other
bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health in England and Wales. They
are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the
underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the
NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that
scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ
materially from those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial
valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with
approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:
a) Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the
Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial
assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and
financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures
for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2019, is based
on valuation data as 31 March 2018, updated to 31 March 2019 with summary global member and
accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19,
relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been
used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme
actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be
viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from
The Stationery Office.
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the
schemes (taking into account recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution
rates payable by employees and employers.
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The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31
March 2016. The results of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from April
2019. The Department of Health and Social Care have recently laid Scheme Regulations confirming
that the employer contribution rate will increase to 20.6% of pensionable pay from this date.
The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the
employer cost cap set following the 2012 valuation. Following a judgment from the Court of Appeal
in December 2018, the Government announced a pause to that part of the valuation process
pending conclusion of the continuing legal process.
3. Operating expenses

2018-19
Total
£'000

2017-18
Total
£'000

426
116,744
387,342
172,545
11,506
73,095
82,461
3
3,489
256
2,961
1,571
64
315
180
117
853,075

285
117,922
380,951
159,712
11,174
75,764
79,114
28
3,097
409
2,362
895
54
204
723
81
832,776

Provision expense
Provisions
Total provision expense

381
381

3,713
3,713

Other operating expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members
Expected credit loss on receivables
Non cash apprenticeship training grants
Other expenditure
Total other operating Expenditure

158
1
2
394
555

196
0
1
372
568

854,011

837,057

Purchase of goods and services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Purchase of social care
Prescribing costs
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Premises
Audit fees (Note 1 and 2)
Other professional fees (note 3)
Legal Fees
Education and training
Total purchase of goods and services

Total operating expenses

Note 1
The annual audit fee includes VAT and the net amount is £45k (2017-18 £45k).
Audit fees for review of the Mental Health Investment Standard (MHIS) includes VAT and the net
amount is £8k (2017-18 Nil).
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Note 2
Limitation on auditor’s liability for external audit work carried out for the financial year
2018-19 is £1million or, if greater, 10 times the total of fees invoiced under the
Engagement Letter.
Note 3
Other professional fees includes the sum of £41k for Internal Audit Fees (2017-18 £40k).
Internal Audit fees is shown net of VAT.
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4. Better Payment Practice Code

2018-19
Number

201819
£'000

2017-18
Number

2017-18
£'000

23,583

280,362

22,669

267,087

23,226
98.49%

275,615
98.31%

22,239
98.10%

263,632
98.71%

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year

3,942

543,567

3,970

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

3,632
92.14%

537,850
98.95%

3,782
95.26%

Measure of compliance
Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target
NHS Payables

535,173
530,179
99.07%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid
invoice, whichever is later.
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5. Cash and cash equivalents
2018-19
£'000
397
(16)

2017-18
£'000
321
76

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service

381

397

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

381

397

Balance at 31 March

381

397

Current
2018-19
£'000

Current
2017-18
£'000

7,612
13,139
5,177
44,962
98
164
154
3,520
74,826

8,949
8,456
6,227
30,893
0
139
117
2,614
57,395

Balance at 1 April
Net change in year

6. Trade and other payables

NHS payables: revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred income
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

7. Financial instruments
7.1 Financial risk management
International Financial Reporting Standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial
instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in
undertaking its activities.
Because the CCG is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of
financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role
in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial
reporting standards mainly apply. The CCG has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds
and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than
being held to change the risks facing the CCG in undertaking its activities.
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Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters
defined formally within the CCG standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the
Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the CCG and internal auditors.
7.1.1 Credit risk
Because the majority of the CCG and revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the CCG has low
exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in
receivables from customers, as disclosed in the financial assets note below.
7.1.2 Liquidity risk
The CCG is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed
from resources voted annually by Parliament. The CCG draws down cash to cover expenditure, as
the need arises. The CCG is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
7.2 Financial assets
Financial Assets measured at amortised cost

2018-19

2017-18

£'000

£'000

Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies

638

1,074

Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies

1,481

3,014

Trade and other receivables with external bodies

389

534

Other financial assets

3

2

Cash and cash equivalents

381

397

Total at 31 March

2,892

5,021
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7.3 Financial liabilities
Financial Liabilities measured at amortised cost

2018-19

2017-18

£'000

£'000

Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies

774

801

Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies

34,163

16,604

Trade and other payables with external bodies

35,952

37,120

Other financial liabilities

3,519

2,614

Total at 31 March

74,408

57,139

8. Operating segments
The CCG consider they have only one segment in 2018-19 and 2017-18: Commissioning of healthcare
services.
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9. Pooled budgets
Under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006, funds were pooled with Hertfordshire County Council, East and North Hertfordshire CCG and
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG for the joint commissioning of the following services:
- mental health, learning disabilities, including child and adolescent mental health
- integrated community equipment
- services commissioned through the Better Care Fund
The Better Care Fund, as set out in the s75 agreement, includes elements of funding from both Hertfordshire County Council and Herts
Valleys CCG that are not pooled and therefore not included within the table below.
For 2018-19 these contributions totalled £88,936k for Herts Valleys CCG (2017-18 £83,827k) and £48,434k for Hertfordshire County Council
(2017-18 £55,083k).
The CCG's share of the income and expenditure handled by the pooled budget for 2018-19 and 2017-18 were:
Equipment Service

2018-19
Contribution
Expenditure
Total
Variance:

Mental Health and
Learning Disabilities
Total
Herts Valleys
PooledCCG
Budget
Contribution
201819
2018-19
£000
£000

Total
PooledBudget
201819
£000

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution

5,740
5,566

1,414
1,373

347,257
346,760

174

41

497

2018-19
£000

Total
PooledBudget

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution

All Pooled
Funds
Total Herts
Valleys CCG
Contribution

2018-19
£000

2018-19
£000

2018-19
£000

77,830
77,628

18,760
17,087

10,490
9,755

89,734
88,756

202

1,673

735

978
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Better Care Fund

Mental Health and
Learning Disabilities

Equipment Service

2017-18
Contribution
Expenditure
Total
Variance:

Total
PooledBudget
201718
£000

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution

All Pooled
Funds

Better Care Fund
Restated
(note 1)

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution

Total
PooledBudget

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution

Total Herts
Valleys CCG
Contribution

2017-18
£000

Total
PooledBudget
201718
£000

2017-18
£000

2017-18
£000

2017-18
£000

2017-18
£000

5,745
5,074

1,414
1,249

336,582
336,528

74,159
74,150

20,412
18,080

13,757
12,872

89,330
88,271

671

165

54

9

2,332

885

1,059

Note 1: The comparator has been restated as the original amounts were showing the CCG's
contribution rather than the total pooled amounts.
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10. Related party transactions
During the year, other than that declared below, none of the Department of Health and Social Care
Ministers, CCG Board members or members of the key management staff, or parties related to any
of them, has undertaken any material transactions with the CCG.
During the year a number of local GPs were members of the CCG's Board. Details of payments made
by the CCG to their practices and related parties disclosed by the GPs and other Board members
were as follows:
Payments
to Related
Party

Dacorum Healthcare Providers Ltd - (GP Federation) Dr T Fernandes and Dr C Ciobanu
Direct Local Health Ltd - (GP Federation) Dr R Eliad and
Dr K Barrett
Fairbrook Medical Centre - Dr C Page
Garston Medical Centre - Dr R Eliad
Haverfield Surgery - Dr C Ciobanu
Herts Health Ltd - (GP Federation) - Dr N Small
Hospice of St Francis - Dr T Fernandes
Maltings Surgery - Dr D Carlton-Conway
New Road Surgery - Dr K Barrett
Parkbury House Surgery - Dr R Pile
Parkwood Surgery - Dr T Fernandes
Schopwick Surgery - Dr N Small
Stahfed - (GP Federation) Dr D Carlton-Conway and Dr
R Pile

Receipts
from
Related
Party

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party

Amounts
due
from
Related
Party

£000

£000

£000

1,182

0

0

0

1,502

0

356

0

1,608
1,209
384
605
641
1,877
1,176
2,006
2,096
1,481
861

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

6
6
1
112
6
3
4
5
3
5
152

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

£000

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year, the CCG
has had a number of material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the
parent Department. The most significant material related parties are listed below. In addition, the
CCG had a number of material transactions with local government bodies. Where appropriate, these
entities have also been reflected in the list below.
Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS Trust
East & North Hertfordshire NHS Trust
East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust
Luton & Dunstable University Hospital NHS Foundation
Trust
Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust
Hertfordshire County Council
The CCG received no revenue or capital payments from any charitable funds.
2017-18 comparators are shown on the following page.
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10a. Related party transactions (2017-18)
During the year, other than that declared below, none of the Department of Health and Social Care
Ministers, CCG Board members or members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of
them, has undertaken any material transactions with the CCG.
During the year a number of local GPs were members of the CCG's Board. Details of payments made by
the CCG to their practices and related parties disclosed by the GPs and other Board members were as
follows:

Callowland Surgery - Dr C Moring
Direct Local Health Ltd - Dr R Eliad and Dr C Moring
Fairbrook Medical Centre - Dr M Edwards
Garston Medical Centre - Dr R Eliad
Herts Health Ltd - GP Federation (Dr Edwards)
Harvey Group Practice - Dr M Walton
Haverfield Surgery - Dr C Ciobanu
Hospice of St Francis - Dr T Fernandes
Parkbury House Surgery - Dr R Pile
Parkwood Surgery - Dr T Fernandes
Schopwick Surgery - Dr N Small
Dacorum Healthcare Providers Ltd - GP Federation
(Dr T Fernandes and Dr C Ciobanu)

Payments
to Related
Party

Receipts
from
Related
Party

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party

£000
1,101
1,247
1,580
1,124
244
1,284
350
740
1,920
2,016
1,499
552

£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

£000
2
223
2
2
14
6
0
76
3
12
4
45

Amounts
due
from
Related
Party
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year, the CCG had a
significant number of material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the
parent Department. The CCG adopted a disclosure level of £1million in 2017-18 and these entities are
listed below. In addition, the CCG had a number of material transactions with other government
departments and other central and local government bodies. Where appropriate, these transactions
have also been reflected in the list below.
Barts Health NHS Trust
Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS Trust
Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust
East & North Hertfordshire NHS Trust
East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust
London North West Healthcare NHS Trust
Royal National Orthopaedic Hospital NHS Trust
West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust
Guy's & St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust
Luton & Dunstable University Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust
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Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Royal Brompton & Harefield NHS Foundation Trust
Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust
The Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust
Hertfordshire County Council
NHS East And North Hertfordshire CCG
HM Revenue and Customs
National Health Service Pension Scheme
The CCG received no revenue or capital payments from any charitable funds.
11. Events after the end of the reporting period
The CCG considers there are no material events after the end of the reporting period that are
required to be disclosed in this note.
12. Financial performance targets
NHS CCG have a number of financial duties under Section 14Z2 of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended
2012).
The CCG performance against those duties was as follows:
2018-19
Target
£000

2018-19
Performance
£000

2017-18
Target
£000

2017-18
Performance
£000

Expenditure not to exceed income

870,722

867,279

853,714

848,917

Capital resource use does not exceed
the amount specified in Directions

0

0

0

0

Revenue resource use does not exceed
the amount specified in Directions

869,779

866,336

852,859

848,109

Capital resource use on specified
matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

0

0

0

0

Revenue resource use on specified
matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

0

0

0

0

Revenue administration resource use
does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions

13,404

12,160

13,249

13,239
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